
 

 

 

 

 
 

 TOWN COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO  
Wednesday, January 17, 2024 at 7:00 PM  

  

MISSION STATEMENT: Enhancing the quality of life of our residents, businesses, and visitors 

through community focused leadership. 

AGENDA 

CALL TO ORDER 

Pledge of Allegiance 

ROLL CALL 

AGENDA APPROVAL 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

Members of the audience are invited to speak at the Council meeting. Public Comment is reserved for 

citizen comments on items not contained on the Public Hearing portion of the agenda. Citizen comments 

are limited to three (3) minutes per speaker. When several people wish to speak on the same position on a 

given item, they are requested to select a spokesperson to state that position. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

The Consent Agenda is a group of routine matters to be acted on with a single motion and vote.  Council 

or staff may request an item be removed from the Consent Agenda and placed on the Regular Agenda for 

discussion. 

1. January 4, 2024 Meeting Minutes  

2. Resolution 2024-06 Authorizing and Supporting the Town of Johnstown's Application for a 

Peace Officers Behavioral Health Support and Community Partnership Grant from the Colorado 

Department of Local Affairs 

TOWN MANAGER REPORT 

TOWN ATTORNEY REPORT 

NEW BUSINESS 

3. Storage Unit Use Agreement between the Town of Johnstown and Graycliff  

4. Country Acres Drainage Mitigation Study Update 

5. Colorado Boulevard & Roosevelt Parkway Intersection Alternatives Analysis 

6. Discussion Only: Front Range Fire Rescue Impact Fee Study 

PUBLIC HEARING 

7. New Beer & Wine Liquor License Application for Buc-ee’s Johnstown LLC  

 

1



 

 

COUNCIL REPORTS AND COMMENTS 

MAYOR’S COMMENTS 

INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

8. Informational Items 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

9. An executive session to discuss the purchase of real property pursuant to C.R.S. Section 24-6-

402(4)(a). 

ADJOURN 

 

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT NOTICE 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable laws, persons who need 

accommodation in order to attend or participate in this meeting should contact Town Hall at 970-587-4664 

no later than 48 hours before the meeting in order to request such assistance. 

De conformidad con la Ley de Discapacitados Estadounidenses y otras leyes vigentes, los individuos que 

necesitan adaptaciones funcionales para asistir o participar en esta reunión deberán comunicarse con la 

Municipalidad marcando el 970 587- 4664 a lo más tardar 48 horas antes de dicha reunión para solicitarla. 

 

2



 

 

 

 

 
 TOWN COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO  
Wednesday, January 03, 2024 at 7:00 PM  

  

MINUTES 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Mellon called the meeting to order and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Pledge of Allegiance 

ROLL CALL 

Present:   

Councilmember Berg    

Councilmember Morris  

Councilmember Young  

Mayor Mellon   

 

Absent:  

Councilmember Dominguez  

Councilmember Molinar  

Councilmember Paranto  

 

AGENDA APPROVAL 

 Councilmember Berg to approve the agenda.  

Councilmember Morris seconded and the motion passed.   

PUBLIC COMMENT 

There was no public comment.  

CONSENT AGENDA 

Councilmember Berg moved to approve the consent agenda.  

Councilmember Young  seconded and the motion passed.  

 

1. December 18, 2023 Meeting Minutes  

2. Ordinance 2023-264: An Ordinance Submitting To The Registered Electors Of The Town Of 

Johnstown At The General Municipal Election To Be Held On April 2, 2024, A Charter 

Amendment Conforming The Limits On Allowing Persons With Felony Convictions To Hold 

Council Office To Those Set Forth In The Colorado Constitution 

3. Ordinance 2023-265: An Ordinance Submitting To The Registered Electors Of The Town Of 

Johnstown At The General Municipal Election To Be Held On April 2, 2024, A Charter  

3

Item #1.



 

Amendment Setting Forth The Source Of The Population Count For Councilmember Residency 

Qualifications And Providing For The Election Of Councilmembers From  Three Electoral 

Districts Rather Than From Two Districts And Four Wards   

4. Ordinance 2023-266, an Ordinance Approving the Grant of a Cable Franchise to TDS 

Broadband Service, LLC, and Approving a Cable Franchise Agreement Between TDS 

Broadcast Service, LLC and the Town of Johnstown, Colorado 

5. Resolution Number 2024-01 A Resolution Designating the Public Place for Posting Notices 

Pursuant to C.R.S. Section  24-6-402(2)(c) 

6. Resolution 2024-02 Updating and Adopting the 2024 Three Mile Plan 

7. Resolution 2024-03 Adopting the Town of Johnstown Strategic Plan 

8. December 2023 List of Bills 

TOWN MANAGER REPORT 

New staff members were introduced to Council Tori Kennedy, Building Permit Technician was 

introduced.  

Justin Scrivner, Senior Mechanic  

Brian Quijada, Collection and Disruption Department, 

Forrestte Brinkerhoff and Hunter Brady, Police Officers.  

Matt LeCerf, Town Manager, noted the monthly report and noted a sanitary sewer inspection in 

November of 2023 resulted in two violations. Mr. LeCerf noted next steps and all items have been tested 

and show no risk to public health.  

Council asked how we can prevent other issues, and Mr. LeCerf noted in 2021 and 2022 these areas were 

not tested, which resulted in the violation. It was noted in the future, if you do not have an inspection on 

the backflow, the Town will lock out the system.    

Mr. LeCerf noted new water bills were sent out, and details are spelling out the adjustments have been 

made on the standard reading of the meters.  

Council asked for clarification on the printing of the community calendars. Mitzi McCoy noted the cost of 

the printing and the reprint, as well as other options that were looked into. Council clarified that re-

printing the calendars in order to get the correct information out would be the best course of action.   

TOWN ATTORNEY REPORT 

There was no Town Attorney Report.  

NEW BUSINESS 

9. Resolution 2024-04: Approving the Purchase and Sale Agreement By and Between the Town of 

Johnstown And TF Johnstown Farms, L.P. for the Purchase of Real Property Known as Lot 1 of 

Johnstown Farms Filing No. 1 Third Amendment 

Mr. LeCerf presented this item, noting the agreement and the agreed price $225,000 and exists of 1.744 

acres, developed to house Planning and Engineering.  

Council asked when staff expected to see something beginning the be built. Mr. LeCerf noted 6-7 months 

including a design phases and long-term needs.  

Councilmember Young moved to approve Resolution #2024-04 as presented and authorize the Town 

Manager to administratively approve the Purchase and Sale Agreement, if changes are necessary.  

4

Item #1.



 

Councilmember Morris seconded and the motion passed.  

COUNCIL REPORTS AND COMMENTS 

Councilmember Morris extended new year wishes.  

Councilmember Berg noted a successful Wreaths Across America event with 221 wreaths laid.  

MAYOR’S COMMENTS 

Mayor Mellon noted upcoming transportation meetings.  

Mayor Mellon noted the absence of Councilmember Dominguez and the excused absense on December 

20, 2023. With the December 4th, 18th 2023 absences and January 3, 2024 absence it was suggested that 

Council now refer to Ordinance 2023-254 and direct Town Staff  to draft a letter for the Mayor's signature 

advising Councilmember Dominguez noting she is excused and expressing thanks for the service to this 

date.  

Councilmember Berg moved pursuant to 2023-254 deem Councilmember Dominguez’s seat as vacant 

and direct staff to draft a letter for Mayor Mellons signature advising Councilmember Dominguez of the 

absence and seat vacancy  

 

Councilmember Young seconded and the motion passed.  

Mayor Mellon declared the seat vacant, noting the seat will be filled with the individual receiving the 

fourth highest number of votes in the election on April 2, 2024.  

INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

Informational items were included in the packet.  

10. Informational Items 

ADJOURN 

Mayor Mellon adjourned the January 3, 2024 meeting at 7:35 pm.  

__________________________ 

Troy D. Mellon, Mayor 

 

__________________________ 

Hannah Hill, Town Clerk 

5

Item #1.



 

 

 

TOWN COUNCIL CONSENT AGENDA COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 

AGENDA DATE:  January 17, 2024 

 

SUBJECT: Grant Application for Peace Officer Behavioral Health Support 

and Community Partnership Grant Program 

 

ACTION PROPOSED: Consider Resolution 2024-06 Authorizing and Supporting the 

Town of Johnstown’s Application for a Peace Officers Behavioral 

Health Support and Community Partnership Grant from the 

Colorado Department of Local Affairs 

 

ATTACHMENTS:  1. Resolution 2024-06 

 

PRESENTED BY:  Ryan Oglesby, Interim Police Chief 

 

    

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

Enclosed for your consideration is a resolution that will allow staff to apply for funding from the 

Department of Local Affairs. Funding is being offered through the Peace Officer Behavioral 

Health Support and Community Partnership Grant Program and will be sought to fund a 

community co-responder program and peer support services for the officers of the Johnstown 

Police Department.  

 

The Johnstown Police Department began a community co-responder program in 2023 in which 

Summitstone Health Partners was able to fund a mental health clinician who works directly with 

officers on mental health-related calls for service. We hope to secure additional grant funding to 

continue this valuable program for two additional years.  

 

We are also hoping to secure funding to begin a peer support program. This program will be 

focused on training officers within the department to be peer support counselors who work with 

mental health counselors to provide a support service for officers who are involved in critical 

incidents or who have job-related stress. These programs have proved to be valuable for many 

other departments in our area and we hope to provide the same level of service to our 

department.  

 

LEGAL ADVICE:  

6

Item #2.



 

The Community That Cares 
www.TownofJohnstown.com 

P: 970.5127.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.5127.0141 

 

The Town Attorney drafted the resolution.  

 

FINANCIAL ADVICE:  

 

Grant funding does not require a town match for application purposes. There is also no mandate 

to continue funding at the conclusion of the grant period.  

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  

 

Approve Resolution 2024-06 as presented. 

 

 

Reviewed and Approved for Presentation, 

 

 

____________________________ 

Town Manager 

 

 

7

Item #2.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


 

 

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-06 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND SUPPORTING THE TOWN OF 

JOHNSTOWN’S APPLICATION FOR A PEACE OFFICERS 

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SUPPORT AND COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP 

GRANT FROM THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF LOCAL AFFAIRS  

WHEREAS, the Town of Johnstown, Colorado (the “Town”) is a Colorado home rule 

municipality, duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado and the Town’s 

Home Rule Charter; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council is vested with authority to administer the affairs of the 

Town; and 

 

WHEREAS, the State of Colorado, by and through the Colorado Department of Local 

Affairs, is offering grants to support peace officers’ behavioral health and community partnerships; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council supports the Johnstown Police Department and the 

Johnstown Police Department’s participation in the co-responder program that provides a 

coordinated approach to behavioral health intervention; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Town Council authorizes and supports the Town’s application for a Peace 

Officers Behavioral Health Support and Community Partnership Grant; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council finds that adoption of this Resolution is in the best interests 

of the Town. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO, THAT:  

Section 1.  The Town Council hereby authorizes and supports the Town’s application for 

a Peace Officers Behavioral Health Support and Community Partnerships Grant. 

Section 2.  This Resolution shall be effective upon adoption. 

PASSED, SIGNED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this ___ day of ________________, 2024. 

 

       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

ATTEST: 
 

By:___________________________________ By:________________________________ 

      Hannah Hill, Town Clerk          Troy D. Mellon, Mayor 

 

8

Item #2.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 4/16

ECONOMY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BY KEN

AMUNDSON LUCAS HIGH  JANUARY 5, 2024 1:36:47 PM

Destination:

Johnstown
Residential listings

were up in 2023, but

sales volumes,

median prices tanked

Crocs expects $3.95B

in ‘23 sales, stock

price soars 

Danone o�loading

Boulder-born

Horizon Organic to

private-equity �rm

LATEST NEWS↻

BizWest Publications

Custom Publications

Request a BizWest Article Reprint

9

Item #2.

https://bizwest.com/category/industries/economy-economic-development/%7D
https://bizwest.com/author/kamundson/
https://bizwest.com/author/kamundson/
https://bizwest.com/author/lhigh/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/08/residential-listings-were-up-in-2023-but-sales-volumes-median-prices-tanked/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/08/crocs-expects-3-95b-in-23-sales-stock-price-soars/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/08/danone-offloading-boulder-born-horizon-organic-to-private-equity-firm/
http://bizwest.advertserve.com/servlet/click/zone?zid=3&cid=8&mid=779&pid=0&sid=25&uuid=fa70bcf6ac2d145b39b5475913d01f1c&ip=24.54.130.147&default=false&random=94890101&timestamp=20240108135230&test=false&resolution=1745x835&contextual=true&referrer=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F%23djPop&redirect=https%3A%2F%2Ffmsbank.com%2Fcontact-us%2F%3Futm_source%3Daffiliate%26utm_medium%3Dbanner%26utm_campaign%3DBizWest%2B970x250
http://bizwest.advertserve.com/servlet/click/zone?zid=3&cid=8&mid=779&pid=0&sid=25&uuid=fa70bcf6ac2d145b39b5475913d01f1c&ip=24.54.130.147&default=false&random=94890101&timestamp=20240108135230&test=false&resolution=1745x835&contextual=true&referrer=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F%23djPop&redirect=https%3A%2F%2Ffmsbank.com%2Fcontact-us%2F%3Futm_source%3Daffiliate%26utm_medium%3Dbanner%26utm_campaign%3DBizWest%2B970x250
https://bizwest.com/bizwest-publications/
https://bizwest.com/custom-publications/
https://bizwest.ac-page.com/reprints


1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 5/16

Submit your event

LongPath secures

conditional $189M

DOE loan

Laughing it up

10
JAN

Northern
Colorado
Economic
Forecast
2024,
Presented
by
BizWest

11
JAN

Regional
Business
After
Hours
with Blue
Arena

18
JAN

Boulder
Economic
Forecast

View

Calendar

The new Buc-ees fueling station will include 120

pumps under the awning but half the revenue

from the operation will come from food sales.

Ken Amundson / BizWest

CALENDAR

10

Item #2.

https://events.bizwest.com/events/community/add
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/08/longpath-secures-conditional-189m-doe-loan/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/07/laughing-it-up/
https://events.bizwest.com/event/northern-colorado-economic-forecast-2024-presented-by-bizwest/
https://events.bizwest.com/event/regional-business-after-hours-with-blue-arena/
https://events.bizwest.com/event/boulder-economic-forecast/
https://events.bizwest.com/events/
https://events.bizwest.com/events/
https://bizwest.com/app/
https://bizwest.com/app/


1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 6/16

Johnstown development activity re�ects community

that’s open for business.

JOHNSTOWN — An economic measure to help gauge construction activity in a

community such as Johnstown might be the number of yellow-line John Deere or

Caterpillar earth movers at work on any given day.

While it may not be true, it seems like a typical traveler in the community is never out o

sight of such construction equipment, as development after development works to tur

vacant land into houses and commercial buildings.

Take, for example, the Colorado Highway 60 corridor. On the west side of the

interchange, a massive Buc-ee’s convenience store and fueling station is taking shape.

On the east side, no more than a half-mile from Buc-ee’s, is the heart of the Ledge Roc

development that will include Missouri-based Woods Supermarket’s �rst venture into

Colorado, a Murdoch’s Ranch and Home Supply store, and other retail. 

The development map for the community marks development after development, from

Encore north of U.S. Highway 34 down through the 2534 development, Iron Horse, The

Ridge, Revere, Welty Ridge, Ledge Rock and more — about eight miles in all, much of it

adjacent or near to Interstate 25, aka Colorado’s Main Street. Numerous residential

developments also are underway, some of which will contain “neighborhood

commercial,” said Sarah Crosthwaite, economic development director for the town. 

The developers responsible for these projects come from near and far — Colorado-

based McWhinney Real Estate Services Inc. has one, but others hail from California,

Texas, Kansas and Arizona. 

“The amount of outside capital investment into the community is amazing,” Crosthwait

said. “It shows that Johnstown has a good reputation for working with developers.”

Indeed, the relative ease that developers face in building projects in Johnstown has

been a factor Diane Seele who served as city clerk for Johnstown from 1990 until she
11

Item #2.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 7/16

been a factor. Diane Seele, who served as city clerk for Johnstown from 1990 until she

retired in 2022, noted that the community’s growth began incrementally and picked up

speed as time went on. First, it was a development near downtown, but things

accelerated when the community annexed land at the southeast corner of I-25 and

Highway 34, called 2534, where the Scheels All Sports store operates from a 250,000-

square-foot retail space in the Johnstown Plaza. 

Seele described how the community of 1,500 people when she arrived there in 1987

grew to its size of 18,636. 

“We had a grocery store, Hays Market, forever. It wanted to expand, so the town

annexed Johnstown Center at the edge of downtown,” she said. In the mid-’90s, some

commercial expansion began but “then we kind of sat dormant for a bit.”

Department-head meetings at city hall, she said, consisted of about �ve people. A

planner who was working in the community saw the opportunity and persuaded the

town to annex to the north to capitalize on the growth happening nearby in Loveland’s

Centerra. 

“We had a proactive board at that time, but we didn’t have a lot of money. We could

o�er time — we could get properties through the process quickly,” she said.

That thread — relative ease for developers — has run through all the developments,

and is remarked upon by those seeking to do business with the town.

Josh Smith, director of operations for Buc-ee’s, the Texas-based convenience store

operator, said the “city has been wonderful to work with, and the county, too.

“Life’s too short to do business with a community that doesn’t want you,” Smith said,

quoting the company’s founder, Arch “Beaver” Alpin. 

Buc-ee’s to open early 2024

While access to the Buc-ee’s site just west of the I-25/Colorado 60 interchange is still

restricted, there’s no shortage of workers or equipment getting things ready for a mid-

March opening. On a Wednesday before Christmas, workers were pouring concrete,

12

Item #2.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 8/16

p g y , p g ,

laying asphalt, completing the weather cover over the apron that will contain 120 gas

pumps, and completing the Lone Star markings above entrances. 

Buc-ee’s is, after all, based in Texas, where things are larger than life. The Johnstown

store will be among the company’s largest at 74,000 square feet. It has another of that

size in Sevierville, Tennessee. 

“It’s a family-oriented travel center,” Smith said. “It’s not conducive to 18-wheeler tra�c

he said. Truck tra�c will continue to be served at Johnson’s Corner to the north or

Love’s Travel Stop to the south at the Berthoud interchange.

The Johnstown store will be the company’s 49th, with four more stores planned in 202

Smith said. None of those four will be in Colorado, although the company is looking fo

other Centennial State opportunities.

The store does not have a sit-down restaurant but does sell a lot of food. “About 50% o

our business is in food service,” he said. The store caters to travelers who will stop for

fuel, buy food or other convenience items and head back out on the road.

The company has begun to advertise a mass-hiring event that will occur Jan. 23-27 at

the Embassy Suites Hotel and Conference Center in Loveland. On those dates, people

who have applied and have been screened over the telephone will be interviewed in

person and hired. 

Pay for positions at Buc-ee’s will be $18 to $33 per hour for 40-hour-per-week jobs,

Smith said. 

“We’ll hire 250-300 employees, about 90% full time,” he said. He expects the remaining

part-time positions will go to students, weekend workers and others.

Jobs will include cashiers, warehousing — “it’s like big box retail, stocking shelves,” he

said — food service workers such as people slicing and selling barbecued brisket, and

retail associates selling clothing or hunting gear.

“It’s all on track,” Smith said.

13

Item #2.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 9/16

Commercial/residential mixed uses

Many of the developments underway in Johnstown combine both commercial and

residential, Crosthwaite said. Encore on 34 is an example.

Arizona-based Caliber Services LLC is the developer behind this 453-acre site north of

U.S. Highway 34 and east of Centerra. The company plans 900 single-family homes, 56

apartments and 880,000 square feet of commercial space. 

“Final layout will be determined by the market,” Crosthwaite said. Commercial space w

be along Highway 34, and the most northern part of the development will include a

private high school, she said.

The development could include light industrial or employment-related businesses. The

developer hopes to get agreements �nalized in 2024 and may break ground as soon a

summer, she said.

Across the road from Encore, adjacent to the 2534 retail development, is McWhinney’s

Iron Horse, an industrial park that unlike many in the region includes outside yard spa

for those companies that have storage needs that don’t require cover. 

“There are some great users there, great employers,” Crosthwaite said. A building

constructed on speculation is fully leased, she said. The company has about 80 acres

remaining to be developed in Iron Horse.

Also in that vicinity, just west of Iron Horse, is a United Properties Development LLC

project on 16.76 acres called Trade@2534. The �ex industrial site most recently picked

up a Kroger Co. ful�llment center, which the King Soopers grocer uses for home-delive

services.

Caliber, the Arizona company, is also developing another parcel, this one 159 acres to

start, called The Ridge. It’s located at I-25 and Weld County Road 18. At buildout, it will

include residential with a diversity of housing types, and it includes space slated for

commercial use along I-25. 

14

Item #2.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 10/16

“With them (Caliber) having two great projects, we’re excited about this moving forwar

General agreements need to be voted on by the council,” Crosthwaite said.

Caliber, which entered the Johnstown development scene only about a half-decade ag

has other ambitious plans for the town. 

“We have about 750 acres in six di�erent projects” in various stages of the planning,

permitting and development process, Caliber chief development o�cer Roy Bade said

“We have pretty much every project type — everything from schools to single-family

(homes), single-family (homes) for rent, multi-family, o�ce, industrial, medical, retail

and hospitality. We’re really touching almost every kind of real estate asset there is.”

Regarding Caliber’s long-term portfolio projections, Bade said, “In the big picture, once

these all have the vertical development, there will be more than $1 billion in new

development in Johnstown.”

The company’s residential communities could bring about 8,000 to 10,000 new

residents to the town.

Texas-based 4 Star Development & Brokerage plans a residential development called

Revere North; it does include commercial elements, but details of that await a

commercial partner for 4 Star, which specializes in residential only, Crosthwaite said.

Between 30 and 50 acres of Revere North will be set aside for commercial developmen

Welty Ridge, being developed by Platte Land and Water, includes the Buc-ee’s project.

The remainder of Welty Ridge is likely to see commercial, light industrial and some

residential.

Platte Land and Water also has another parcel of particular interest to Johnstown. It’s a

160-acre parcel, annexed into the town, that the city is calling its future North

Downtown. It’s north on Weld County Road 17.

“Tons of projects are coming for downtown,” Crosthwaite said. That’s noted in the

town’s strategic plan, which was just updated and included for town board review last

month.

15

Item #2.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 11/16

month.

Among the strategies noted in the plan are “driving development to expand the

downtown corridor.” In the short-term — up to three years according to the plan — th

town wants to create a downtown master plan, complete a �nancial improvement stud

for the downtown to support the vision for its expansion, and guide expansion in a

creative way. 

“The biggest thing is that we want to assure that it (the expansion) adds amenities and

an extension of the historic corridor,” Crosthwaite said. It needs to be “pedestrian-

friendly” and have elements that “activate it both day and night,” she said.

While not downtown, the Ledge Rock Center between downtown and Interstate 25

o�ers the community another retail opportunity. It includes six buildings in its �rst

phase, including Woods Supermarket, Murdoch’s Ranch and Home Supply, and a retai

center that will include business condos or rental units. A Sports Clips “coming soon”

sign hangs in the window of one of them.

Kansas-based Carson Development Inc. is producing Ledge Rock, which will include

750,000 square feet of commercial space.

Woods Supermarket, a Missouri-based grocer making its foray into the state at

Johnstown, will open in 2024. The store will be 85,000 square feet. Woods has been

around Missouri for decades; the Johnstown store will be its 11th and its �rst outside o

its home state. About 150 workers will be hired to sta� the store, which as of late

December was largely shelled in but did not have exterior elevations completed. 

Crosthwaite said the town put more than $8 million into improvements at the Highway

60 gateway. 

Other residential developments that include some commercial elements include the

Vista Commons neighborhood north of Ledge Rock, Massey Farms and Settlers

Crossing, she said.

“We’re excited about Northern Colorado,” Caliber’s Bade said. “We �nd it to be a very

strong market for a lot of reasons, most of them relate to quality of life.”

16

Item #2.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 12/16

strong market for a lot of reasons, most of them relate to quality of life.

By and large, developers have found Johnstown residents, its government o�cials and

sta�ers, and its economic development community to be open for business. 

“In Johnstown, they’re incredibly open to getting together and meeting with them.

They’ve had a fair amount of turnover (in its planning and development o�ce) and I

think that’s one of the things that’s di�cult … but it’s part of being one the fastest

growing communities in the state,” Bade said. “You’re going to have some growing

pains, but overall, their receptiveness to development and to developers exceeds wha

we’ve seen in other regions.”

17

Item #2.

https://s39845.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/bucees1-scaled.jpeg.webp
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/


1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 13/16

a d k v s

Ken Amundson

Ken Amundson is

managing editor of

BizWest. He has

lived in Loveland

and reported on

issues in the region

since 1987. Prior to

Colorado, he

reported and edited

for news

organizations in

Minnesota and

Iowa. He's a parent

of two and

grandparent of

four, all of whom

make their homes

on the Front Range.

A news junkie at

heart, he also

enjoys competitive

sports, especially

the Rapids.

✉

18

Item #2.

https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F&t=Destination%3A+Johnstown+%26lt%3Bi+class%3D%5C%26%23039%3Bfa-light+fa-key+fogg-paywall%5C%26%23039%3B%26gt%3B%26lt%3B%2Fi%26gt%3B
https://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&ro=true&trk=EasySocialShareButtons&title=Destination%3A+Johnstown+%26lt%3Bi+class%3D%5C%26%23039%3Bfa-light+fa-key+fogg-paywall%5C%26%23039%3B%26gt%3B%26lt%3B%2Fi%26gt%3B&url=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F
mailto:?subject=Destination%3A%20Johnstown%20%26lt%3Bi%20class%3D%27fa-light%20fa-key%20fogg-paywall%27%26gt%3B%26lt%3B%2Fi%26gt%3B&body=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F
https://bizwest.com/author/kamundson/
mailto:kamundson@bizwestmedia.com


1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 14/16

Categories: Economy & Economic Development Johnstown Buc-

ee's Ltd. Home Supply Murdoch's Ranch Woods Supermarket

Lucas High

A Maryland native,

Lucas has worked

at news agencies

from Wyoming to

South Carolina

before putting roots

down in Colorado.✉

Sign up for BizWest Daily Alerts
Email

Type your email SUBMIT

19

Item #2.

https://bizwest.com/category/industries/economy-economic-development/%7D
https://bizwest.com/category/region/johnstown-region/%7D
https://bizwest.com/tag/buc-ees-ltd/
https://bizwest.com/tag/buc-ees-ltd/
https://bizwest.com/tag/home-supply/
https://bizwest.com/tag/murdochs-ranch/
https://bizwest.com/tag/woods-supermarket/
https://bizwest.com/author/lhigh/
mailto:lhigh@bizwest.com


1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 15/16

Related Content

Buc-ee’s to hold mass-

hiring event for

Johnstown location

 December 11, 2023

Woods market to locate

large grocery in

Johnstown

 March 2, 2023

Buc-ee’s breaks ground

in Johnstown

 June 7, 2022

Je� Nuttall -

Publisher

jnuttall@bizwest.com

© BizWest Media

The contents of this website are copyright

BizWest Media, LLC. All rights reserved.

Use of any of this information or media on

this site is strictly prohibited without

express written consent.

About us

Advertise

BizWest Publications

Custom Publications

Contact us

Privacy Policy

RSS

Submit News

20

Item #2.

https://bizwest.com/2023/12/11/buc-ees-to-hold-mass-hiring-event-for-johnstown-location/
https://bizwest.com/2023/03/02/woods-market-to-locate-large-grocery-in-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2022/06/07/buc-ees-breaks-ground-in-johnstown/
mailto:jnuttall@bizwest.com
https://bizwest.com/about-us/
https://bizwest.com/advertise/
https://bizwest.com/bizwest-publications/
https://bizwest.com/custom-publications/
https://bizwest.com/contact-us/
https://bizwest.com/privacy-policy/
https://bizwest.com/feed/
https://bizwest.com/submit-news/
http://bizwest.advertserve.com/servlet/click/zone?zid=3&cid=462&mid=842&pid=0&sid=25&uuid=fa70bcf6ac2d145b39b5475913d01f1c&ip=24.54.130.147&default=false&random=72839852&timestamp=20240108135230&test=false&resolution=1745x835&contextual=true&referrer=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F%23djPop&redirect=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.prpa.org%2F
http://bizwest.advertserve.com/servlet/click/zone?zid=3&cid=462&mid=842&pid=0&sid=25&uuid=fa70bcf6ac2d145b39b5475913d01f1c&ip=24.54.130.147&default=false&random=72839852&timestamp=20240108135230&test=false&resolution=1745x835&contextual=true&referrer=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F%23djPop&redirect=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.prpa.org%2F


1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 16/16

970-227-7103

For

subscription

questions,

contact Bruce

Dennis -

Audience

Development

Director

bdennis@bizwest.com

970-232-3143

Subscribe

Terms of Use

21

Item #2.

tel:970-227-7103
mailto:bdennis@bizwest.com
tel:970-232-3143
https://bizwest.com/login/?loginAction=subscribe
https://bizwest.com/terms-of-use/


 

 

 

 

TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 

AGENDA DATE:  January 17, 2024 

 

SUBJECT: Storage Unit Use Agreement 

 

ACTION PROPOSED: Consider the Storage Unit Use Agreement Between the Town of 

Johnstown and Graycliff Capital  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. Storage Unit Use Agreement  

 

PRESENTED BY:  Sarah Crosthwaite, Economic Development Manager 

 

    

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

  

Enclosed for your review and consideration is an agreement between the Town of Johnstown and 

Graycliff Capital to allow the existing storage units and garages to be externally leased. For 

reference, Town Staff presented to Council on November 6, 2023, the initial request by Graycliff 

to consider externally leasing the storage units. The Town Council approved Town Staff to work 

with Graycliff in putting together an agreement to be reviewed by Council at a later date.  

 

The attached agreement outlines the expectations and limitations on the external leasing of the 

storage units and garages. Below are the general terms and conditions: 

 

 15% of the total storage units will be reserved for current leaseholders of the Johnstown 

Plaza Apartments. 

 18 of the 21 garages will be reserved for current leaseholders of the Johnstown Plaza 

Apartments. 

 Any external lease agreements cannot exceed 12 months. 

 All Town rules and regulations including the Johnstown Land Use and Development 

Code must be always adhered to. 

 The term of the agreement will terminate on December 31, 2025 (considered the initial 

term) and 60 days prior to the termination of the initial term, Graycliff will need to file a 

request to the Town Manager to extend the term. 

22

Item #3.



 

The Community That Cares 
johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

 If extended, the renewal term will be in place for 2 years and automatically renew for an 

additional 2 years thereafter.  

 Graycliff is entitled to cure violations, if any, upon receipt of notice. If violations are not 

cured, Graycliff will be unable to enter into new lease agreements and the agreement 

between the Town will terminate.  

 The Town Manager reserves the right to terminate the agreement should Graycliff have 

continuous violations or place an undue burden on Town resources.  

 

LEGAL ADVICE:  

 

The Town Attorney drafted and reviewed the finalized agreement.   

 

FINANCIAL ADVICE:  

 

N/A 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Staff supports approval of the agreement between the Town of 

Johnstown and Graycliff Capital.  

 

 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 

 

For Approval: I move to approve the Storage Unit Use Agreement as presented.  

 

For Denial: I move to deny the Storage Unit Use Agreement as presented. 

 

Reviewed and Approved for Presentation, 

 

 

____________________________ 

Town Manager 

 

 

23

Item #3.

https://johnstown.colorado.gov/


24

Item #3.



25

Item #3.



26

Item #3.



27

Item #3.



28

Item #3.



29

Item #3.



 

 

 

 

TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 

AGENDA DATE:  January 17, 2024 

 

SUBJECT: An Update to the Country Acres Drainage Mitigation Study 

 

ACTION PROPOSED: No Action Required, Informational Only 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. Country Acres Storm Drainage Study Update (Presentation) 

 

PRESENTED BY:  Jason Elkins, Public Works Director 

    Austin Fling, Benesch Designer 

 

    

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

  

Flooding that has occurred on Sandra Drive is due to multiple storm/hail events occurring in a 

short time frame, as well as an undersized storm sewer and an undersized pond outlet. To reduce 

the effects of future flooding, a more efficient pond outlet system and an upsized storm sewer 

system were modeled and evaluated.  

 

Two storm sewer system options were identified for Sandra Drive. One option would consist of 

upsizing three of the four pipes that take water from the low point in Sandra Drive to the existing 

detention pond located in the backyard of the building at 1106 Sandra Drive. The second option 

would be the installation of two new inlets on the south side of the street: one to the west and one 

to the east of the existing inlets. After receiving input from the residents on Sandra Drive, the 

inlet on the west side of the existing inlet would be placed at what is believed to be another low 

point to the west of the existing inlets. 

 

Three viable 5-year storm options for the pond outlet have also been identified to reduce the risk 

of flooding on Sandra Drive. All three options were modeled to include the Sandra Drive storm 

sewer improvements as well as overflow provisions that directs any overflow into Hillsborough 

Ditch. Depending on the option approved by the Hillsborough Ditch Company, the modification 

of the storm sewer system on Sandra Drive might only require the installation of two new storm 

inlets, eliminating the necessity to upsize the existing pipe and result in cost savings.  

30

Item #4.



 

The Community That Cares 
johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

 Option 1: Requires a new pond outlet consisting of a 48” outlet pipe directing water from 

the pond directly to Hillsborough Ditch. 

 Option 2: Requires a new pond outlet consisting of a system of 48” pipes directing water 

to the existing Hillsborough Ditch outfall point.  

 Option 3: Requires a new pond outlet consisting of a drop grate inlet and pipe system that 

siphons flow from the pond to a point just downstream of Hillsborough Ditch.  

 

The improvements to the storm sewer system on Sandra Drive and the pond outlet system 

improvements are subject to approval by the Hillsborough Ditch Company, and staff has been 

and continues to work with the Company to come a reasonable solution that meets both parties’ 

needs. 

 

LEGAL ADVICE:   

 

Not Applicable 

 

FINANCIAL ADVICE:   

 

Not Applicable 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Staff is providing a general update of the project status to 

Council. 

 

 

Reviewed and Approved for Presentation, 

 

 

____________________________ 

Town Manager 

 

 

31

Item #4.

https://johnstown.colorado.gov/


Sandra Drive 
Flood Mitigation
Options

Jason Elkins, Johnstown Public Works Director

Johnny Olson, PE, Senior Project Manager

Tom Fuentes, PE, Senior Project Manager

Austin Fling,  EIT, Designer

32

Item #4.



• The Problem
• Terminology

• 5 Year – Minor Storm Frequency
• 100 Year – Major Storm Frequency
• HGL – Hydraulic Grade Line

• Existing Conditions
• Base Sandra Drive Storm Sewer Improvements
• Pond Outlet Options

• Option 1 – New outlet directly to the ditch
• Option 2 – New outlet to the existing outfall location
• Option 3 – Siphon under the ditch

• Summary

Contents

33

Item #4.



The Problem

34

Item #4.



Storm Frequencies:
Storm Precipitation (P)
5-year Minor Storm (P= 1.49 in.)
100-year Major Storm (P = 2.56 in.)
• Probability of Storm Event

Terminology

HGL – Hydraulic Grade Line
• Indicates the water level of a pipe system
• 5-year HGL
• 100-year HGL

http://onlinemanuals.txdot.gov/TxDOTOnlineManuals/TxDOTMan
uals/hyd/hydraulic_grade_line_analysis.htm

https://www.pgh2o.com/news-events/news/newsletter/2021-05-27-
stormwater-tip-storm-size-what-it-means-why-it-matters

35

Item #4.



Existing Conditions

36

Item #4.



Existing Conditions

37

Item #4.



38

Item #4.



Sandra Drive Storm Sewer Improvements

39

Item #4.



Ditch Outlet Option 1

40

Item #4.



41

Item #4.



Option 1: New Outlet Structure

42

Item #4.



Ditch Outlet Option 2

43

Item #4.



44

Item #4.



Ditch Outlet Option 3 - Siphon

45

Item #4.



46

Item #4.



Option 3: Siphon Under the Ditch

https://www.lmnoeng.com/Channels/InvertedSiphon.php

47

Item #4.



• Flooding in Sandra Drive is due to multiple storm/hail events occurring in a short time frame, as well as 
undersized storm sewer and an undersized pond outlet.

• To reduce the effects of future flooding, a more efficient pond outlet system and upsized storm sewer 
system is required.

• Three viable 5-year storm options have been identified to reduce the risk of flooding in Sandra Drive. 
All three options include Sandra Drive storm sewer improvements.

• Option 1: Requires new pond outlet going directly to the ditch.
• Option 2: Requires new pond outlet / storm sewer to the existing Hillsborough Ditch discharge  

point.
• Option 3: Requires new pond outlet that siphons flow from the pond to a point just downstream 

of Hillsborough Ditch.

• Design field survey will be required for further design of preferred option

• All options are subject to Town and Hillsborough Ditch approval.

• Benesch and the Town will continue to work with residents to find an agreeable solution.

Summary:

48

Item #4.



Additional Photos

49

Item #4.



Existing Pond OutletExisting Detention Pond

50

Item #4.



Hillsborough Ditch Looking DownstreamExisting Outfall into Ditch

51

Item #4.



Farmland South of DitchExisting Ditch Connection to the East

52

Item #4.



Questions?

53

Item #4.



54

Item #4.



 

 

 

 

TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 

AGENDA DATE:  January 17, 2024 

 

SUBJECT: An Update to the Colorado Blvd & Roosevelt Pkwy Intersection 

Alternatives Analysis 

 

ACTION PROPOSED: Consider the Recommended Intersection Improvements 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. Colorado-Roosevelt Intersection Analysis Presentation 

 

PRESENTED BY:  Jason Elkins, Public Works Director 

    John Moschovich, Benesch Project Manager 

 

    

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

Benesch is tasked with analyzing the traffic and developing design alternatives for the Colorado 

Boulevard and Roosevelt Parkway intersection. This undertaking is crucial due to the recent 

opening of Roosevelt High School and the anticipated growth in the student population. With 

additional development potential in the form of new housing, commercial, and office space 

adjacent to the intersection, the expansion of Colorado Blvd will need to occur in this area. 

 

The alternatives analyzed include a traffic signal, a single-lane roundabout, and a two-lane 

roundabout. The potential development mentioned above will result in notable impacts accessing 

the intersection daily. After careful consideration, the single-lane roundabout has been ruled out 

as it does not provide sufficient capacity and level of service for accommodating future growth.  

 

Upon comparison between the traffic signal and the two-lane roundabout, the roundabout 

emerges as the recommended solution to the Town. Its advantages lie in superior traffic 

operations, enhanced vehicle and pedestrian safety, reduced right-of-way impacts, and lower 

maintenance costs. Notably, the roundabout presents similar construction costs when compared 

with a traffic signal. 

 

Currently in the FY 2024 budget, there is no funding for the design of the roundabout and 

associated improvements that may be necessary at this intersection. Development Agreements 

currently in place with the adjacent property owners require they are financially obligated to the 

improvements which include design and construction. It would be the Staff’s preference that the 

55

Item #5.



 

The Community That Cares 
johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

Town coordinates the design and construction of this intersection and then collects the 

reimbursement at incremental stages of the project from the obligated parties. To proceed in this 

direction, we would ask the adjacent property owners obligated to these improvements, if they 

are receptive to this general method. Assuming Council accepts the recommendations from the 

Benesch roadway analysis, and the parties are receptive to having the Town coordinate the 

project, we would provide Council with a scope of services for design and funds would need to 

be appropriated to begin the project at an upcoming regular council meeting.  

 

LEGAL ADVICE:  

 

N/A 

 

FINANCIAL ADVICE:  

 

Funding would need to be appropriated by Council for design to commence on this project. 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Staff supports approval of the recommended two-lane 

roundabout option.  

 

 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 

 

For Approval: I move to direct Staff to request a scope and fee from Benesch for the design of 

the intersection improvements to be presented at a future Council Meeting and verify from 

adjacent property owners their support for the Town to coordinate the projects design and 

construction.  

 

For Denial: I move to deny pursuing the recommended intersection improvements as presented. 

 

Reviewed and Approved for Presentation, 

 

 

____________________________ 

Town Manager 

 

 

56

Item #5.

https://johnstown.colorado.gov/


Colorado Blvd
& Roosevelt Pkwy
Intersection Alternative Study

57

Item #5.



Study Location

Colorado Blvd & Roosevelt Pkwy 2

Intersection

Roosevelt 
High School The Granary 

Development

SH 60

I-25

Whitehall 
Development

58

Item #5.



• Side street stop controlled
• Roosevelt High School

• Currently 1,000 students
• Capacity 1,300 students

• The Granary Development
• 2800 Housing Units
• Roosevelt Pkwy expanded east

• Whitehall Development
• 750 Housing Units
• Retail and office

• Colorado Blvd (WCR 13)
• Ultimate 4 lane cross section

Colorado Blvd & Roosevelt Pkwy 3

Why Are Improvements Needed?

Extended Roosevelt Pkwy

Existing Roosevelt Pkwy
Co

lo
ra

do
 B

lv
d

59

Item #5.



• Familiar to drivers

• Lanes can be added, and signals retimed as 
traffic volumes increase

• Requires dual left turns for southbound and 
eastbound directions

• Wide cross sections at intersection, requiring 
more right-of-way

• Overall Level of Service C with some turning 
movements at Level of Service D

Colorado Blvd & Roosevelt Pkwy 4

Traditional Signal

60

Item #5.



• Smaller footprint with less right-of-way 
acquisition

• Safer for pedestrians

• Can be phased to build a single lane and add 
a second circulating lane once traffic volumes 
require it

• Similar construction costs for ultimate 
configuration (more expensive for interim)

• Overall Level of Service B including all turning 
movements

Colorado Blvd & Roosevelt Pkwy 5

2 Lane Roundabout

61

Item #5.



Colorado Blvd & Roosevelt Pkwy 6

Alternative Operations

Signalized Unsignalized

A ≤10 ≤10

B >10-20 >10-15

C >20-35 >15-25

D >35-55 >25-35

E >55-80 >35-50

F >80 >50

Average Delay (s/veh)
LOS

AM PM AM PM AM PM AM PM AM PM

Existing 2023 B B C E N/A N/A A A A A

Signal 2045 C B B B C B C B D B

2-Lane Roundabout 2045 B B B A B B A B B B

Southbound
Senario

Overall Eastbound Westbound Northbound

62

Item #5.



Traditional Signal

• Familiar to drivers

• Simpler construction and phasing

• More lanes (including dual left turn lanes)

• Higher maintenance costs

• Requires more right-of-way

Colorado Blvd & Roosevelt Pkwy 7

2 Lane Roundabout

• Better traffic operations

• Safer for pedestrians

• Lower maintenance costs

• Requires less right-of-way

• Unfamiliar to drivers

Alternative Comparison
RECOMMEDNED ALTERNATIVE

63

Item #5.



Questions?

64

Item #5.



 

 

 

 

TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 

AGENDA DATE:  January 17, 2024 

 

SUBJECT: Front Range Fire Rescue (FRFR) Impact Fees 

 

ACTION PROPOSED: Discussion Only: Front Range Fire Rescue Impact Fees 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. FRFR Impact Fee Study 

 

PRESENTED BY:  Matt LeCerf, Town Manager 

 

    

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

  

In May, 2023, the Front Range Fire Rescue completed an updated Fire Impact Fee Study. A copy 

of this document is attached for your review. In order for impact fees to be assessed at the time 

of a building permit that benefits FRFR, an ordinance needs to be adopted by Town Council to 

modify the fee. The fees currently assessed on behalf of the FRFR were adopted in December, 

2018 and became effective in January 2019 as part of Ordinance 2018-154.  

 

In conjunction with the updated Impact Fee Study, FRFR is requesting the Town proceed 

forward with a new ordinance to amend the fees to the recommendations shown in the table 

below. The table shows both the fees currently in effect and the impact fees requested for FRFR.  

 

RESIDENTIAL 
UNIT TYPE CURRENT FEE PER 

DWELLING UNIT 
REQUESTED 2024 FEE 
PER DWELLING UNIT 

Single-Family* or Two-
Family 

$1,087.00 $1,354.00 

Multi-Family $692.00 $1,247.00 

* A Townhome is a single-family home 

NON-RESIDENTIAL 

UNIT TYPE 
CURRENT FEE PER 

SQUARE FOOT 
REQUESTED 2024 FEE 

PER SQUARE FOOT 
Any Non-Residential $0.60 $1.53 

65

Item #6.



 

The Community That Cares 
johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

Staff supports the requested change by FRFR based on both the duration of time in between the 

current and requested updated fee and the findings in the report provided. It is also worth noting 

the fees adopted in 2018 were 70% of the recommendation from the impact fee study.  

 

Staff is presenting this item as a discussion item to allow for Council to ask any questions of 

FRFR representatives regarding the study and for Staff to receive general direction from Council 

if they would like for us to proceed with the process of presenting an ordinance for formal 

consideration. 

 

LEGAL ADVICE:   

 

Not applicable.  

 

FINANCIAL ADVICE:  

 

NA 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Staff supports the impact fee adjustments requested by FRFR.  

 

Reviewed and Approved for Presentation, 

 

 

____________________________ 

Town Manager 

 

 

66

Item #6.

https://johnstown.colorado.gov/


FINAL REPORT 

Front Range Fire Rescue
Impact Fee Study 

67

Item #6.



Final Report 

May 15th, 2023

Front Range Fire Rescue
Impact Fee Study 

Prepared for: 
Front Range Fire Rescue 
P.O. Box 130
Milliken, CO 80543

Prepared by: 
BBC Research & Consulting 
1999 Broadway, Suite 2200 
Denver, Colorado 80202-9750 
303.321.2547  fax 303.399.0448 
www.bbcresearch.com 
bbc@bbcresearch.com 

68

Item #6.



 

BBC RESEARCH & CONSULTING SECTION I, PAGE 1 

SECTION I. 
Introduction 

Front Range Fire Rescue Fire Protection District (FRFR) provides fire rescue, emergency 

medical, and life safety and fire prevention services in Weld and Larimer Counties, serving the 

Town of Johnstown, the Town of Milliken, and parts of unincorporated Weld and Larimer 

Counties, as shown in Figure I-1. FRFR’s service area includes both urban and rural land uses.  

Many fire districts in Colorado impose development impact fees for expansion of public 

infrastructure. Colorado statute and a series of United States Supreme Court decisions dictate 

the amounts that districts can charge in impact fees and how they can devise, impose, and spend 

them. Because of those requirements, FRFR retained BBC Research & Consulting (BBC) in 2023 

to conduct a feasibility assessment and prepare a report documenting the calculation of 

appropriate fees for its services. This report documents BBC’s analysis and recommendations for 

updating the impact fee system that would recover the proportional capital costs associated with 

new development.  

Figure I-1. 
Front Range Fire Rescue Fire Protection District Service Area 

 
Source: Fire districts data aggregated by the Colorado Department of Local Affairs. Downloaded from Colorado Information Marketplace, at 

https://data.colorado.gov/Local-Aggregation/Fire-Districts-in-Colorado/ua3v-vcuh. 

69

Item #6.



 

BBC RESEARCH & CONSULTING SECTION I, PAGE 2 

A. Impact Fee Requirements  

Although there is no universally accepted definition of defensible impact fees, most feasibility 

assessments focus on the following requirements: 

 One-time application, meaning that fees are a one-time payment for new development; 

 Restricted use, meaning that fees are only applicable to infrastructure expansion projects; 

 New development, meaning that fees are only applicable to new development and not 

improvements to existing developments; and 

 Proportionality requirements, meaning that fees must be limited to the proportionate share 

of the capital costs associated with providing services to the new development. 

For example, Juergensmeyer and Thomas (2008) describe impact fees as:  

“Fees collected through a set schedule or formula, spelled out in a local ordinance …. fees 

are levied only against new development projects as a condition of permit approval to fund 

infrastructure needed to serve the proposed development. Impact fees are calculated to 

cover the proportionate share of the capital costs for that infrastructure…”1 

1. Colorado requirements. Consistent with Juergensmeyer and Thomas’s (2008) description 

of impact fees, Colorado law specifies the following requirements for impact fees:  

 Impact fees are a one-time payment levied on new development; 

 Funds can only be used for capital infrastructure projects: 

➢ Applicable projects must have a five-year life.  

➢ No funds can be diverted for operations, maintenance, repair, or facility replacement. 

 Impact fee revenue must be segregated from other revenue and used for the purposes for 

which it was collected; 

 Fees must be imposed on all forms of development and cannot be limited to one type of 

land use; 

 Impact fee revenue must be used for capital infrastructure expansion. No funds can be used 

for correcting existing system deficiencies; and 

 There must be a reasonable expectation of benefit by the fee payer. 

2. Supreme Court decisions. Impact fees must also be in accordance with a series of United 

States Supreme Court rulings. The two most notable court decisions that speak to impact fee 

requirements are often referred to as Nollan and Dolan.2 Guidance from those decisions requires 

that there be an "essential nexus" between the fee and the community’s interest. In Dolan v. City 

of Tigard (1994), the Supreme Court held that, in addition to an “essential nexus,” there must be 

 

1 Juergensmeyer, Julian C., and Thomas E. Roberts. Land Use Planning and Development Regulatory Law. St. Paul, MN: 

WestGroup, 2003; and ImpactFees.com, Duncan Associates, 20 February 2008. 

2 Nollan v. California Coastal Commission, 483 U.S. 82; 1987 and Dolan v. City of Tigard (1994) 114S.Ct. 2309. 

70

Item #6.

http://www.impactfee.com/


 

BBC RESEARCH & CONSULTING SECTION I, PAGE 3 

"rough proportionality" between the proposed fee and the impacts that the fee is intended to 

mitigate. In Dolan, the Court further ruled that “rough proportionality” need not be derived with 

mathematical exactitude but must demonstrate some relationship to the specific impact of the 

project:  

"We think a term such as 'rough proportionality' best encapsulates what we hold to 

be the requirements of the Fifth Amendment. No precise mathematical calculation is 

required, but the city must make some sort of individualized determination that the 

required dedication is related both in nature and extent to the impact of the proposed 

development."3 

Over the past two decades since Dolan, many fire districts have imposed impact fees, resulting in 

a broad set of common practices when considering how best to reflect judicial and statutory 

requirements in designing new fees. 

B. Fee Applicability 

As noted above, fire districts can only use impact fee revenue to cover the costs of any necessary 

expansion of public infrastructure that is needed to serve new development. In addition, fee 

amounts can only be set in a manner that is proportional to the cost of such infrastructure 

expansion. 

1. Public infrastructure. Public or capital infrastructure is the physical component of public 

services. Under Colorado statute, the definition of infrastructure can include all equipment that 

has at least a five-year lifetime. It does not include personnel or any elements of service costs, 

even in circumstances where new staff is required to operate new facilities. Public infrastructure 

generally includes buildings, facilities, parking, lighting, recreation centers, or other support 

facilities. Capital infrastructure generally includes streets, parks, administrative facilities, 

specialized fire or police buildings, and recreational facilities.  

2. Nature of infrastructure investments. Not all capital infrastructure costs are associated 

with community growth or with the expansion of facility capacity. Most fire districts make 

infrastructure investments not because of growth pressures but for the repair and replacement 

of existing facilities. For example, fire districts often make infrastructure investments related to:  

 Repair and replacement of existing facilities, such as annual building maintenance or 

replacing a roof; 

 Betterment of existing facilities, such as introducing new services or improving existing 

infrastructure without increasing service capacity; and 

 Facilities expansions, such as expanding an existing building to accommodate growing 

personnel requirements. 

Fire districts are not allowed to account for such investments as part of impact fee calculations. 

 

3 Dolan v. City of Tigard (1994) 114S.Ct. 2309 

71

Item #6.



 

BBC RESEARCH & CONSULTING SECTION I, PAGE 4 

C. Capital Standards 

In designing impact fees, fire districts must determine the appropriate capital standards 

applicable to each category of infrastructure. Facility standards can vary widely between 

districts. Whereas some states have legislation that describes such criteria with great specificity, 

other states—like Colorado—use more general standards. There are two primary approaches 

for calculating capital standards.  

1. Replacement value approach. Capital standards can be estimated using the replacement 

value of specific capital facilities and the qualified equipment necessary for each category of 

infrastructure. For example, a city of 2,500 homes with a 20,000 square foot recreation center 

that has a replacement value of $5 million would have a recreation center standard of 8 square 

feet per housing unit (i.e., 20,000 square feet/2,500 homes = 8 square feet per home) and a 

replacement value of $250 per square foot (i.e., $5 million/20,000 square feet = $250 per square 

foot). Thus, each existing residence would have an embedded recreational investment of $2,000 

per home (i.e., $250 x 8 square feet = $2,000 per home), representing the community’s 

recreational facility standard, which is what a developer could be charged for recreational 

facilities for each new unit.  

If capital standards are defined using a replacement value approach, then calculations of those 

standards must account for any debt that applies against the relevant infrastructure. Because 

current residents are already responsible for that debt, it would be duplicative and 

inappropriate to charge developers impact fees that also include that debt.  

2. Plan-based approach. Fire districts can also use a plan-based approach to set capital 

standards, which relies on capital improvement or other specific plans to estimate the value of 

capital required to serve future development. A plan-based approach requires forecasts of 

residential and commercial growth and detailed data on capital expansion plans and costs. Plan-

based approaches must focus on expansion-related projects or the expansion portion of projects 

rather than betterment or replacement projects. 

D. Other Considerations 

Over time, some consensus has emerged on how best to ensure that impact fees comply with 

state statutes and court rulings. Many of the factors that fire districts must consider in designing 

fees appropriately are described above, but BBC also presents other considerations that fire 

districts must make. 

 Allocation by land use. Courts have indicated that all forms of development that have 

facility impacts—that is, residential, industrial, and commercial developments—must pay 

their fair share of expansion costs. If one type of development is exempted from fees, then 

fees may not be sufficient to cover expansion costs that result from new development.  

 Use specificity. Impact fee calculations vary between different forms and sizes of 

residential development and different uses of commercial buildings and how they impact 

demand for public services. When compelling evidence is available that the forms, sizes, or 

uses of particular types of development will result in substantially different demands for 

public services, then fire districts’ impact fees should reflect that information. 

72

Item #6.



 

BBC RESEARCH & CONSULTING SECTION I, PAGE 5 

 Redevelopment. The application of impact fees raises questions about how to deal with the 

redevelopment of existing properties. The redevelopment of a residence—even if it 

involves full scraping—does not lead to an increase in service demands, because it is still 

one residential unit with no implications for service delivery costs or capital needs. In 

contrast, the redevelopment of a larger lot into multiple homes would be assessed an 

impact fee based on the net number of new residential units, because there would be clear 

implications for service delivery and capital needs. Commercial redevelopment would be 

subject to the same considerations. 

 Waivers. Fire districts should not waive fees unless the funds are reimbursed from other 

sources such as the general fund or other contributions by the developer to system 

expansion that exceed the calculated fees. 

 Timing. Fees should be assessed at the time that building permits are issued.  

 Updates. Impact fee calculations should be updated periodically. Most fire districts update 

their fees every two or three years.  

 Fee design costs. The cost of fee design studies can be recovered through impact fees and 

used to reimburse districts’ expenditures on the studies.  

73

Item #6.



 

BBC RESEARCH & CONSULTING SECTION II, PAGE 1 

SECTION II. 
Impact Fee Derivation 

As described in Section I, there are several types of information that fire districts must consider 

to appropriately set their development impact fees, including determining capital standards. 

BBC used data from various sources to make appropriate considerations in developing updated 

development impact fees for FRFR. 

 Capital standards. BBC used FRFR’s planned future investment in facilities as the basis for 

determining capital standards for its new fees based on the District’s projections of future 

capital requirements to serve new growth. The valuation included estimates of investments 

in buildings, furniture, fixtures, and durable equipment. Calculations of capital standards 

must also account for any debt that exists in connection with relevant infrastructure. FRFR 

did not have any debt associated with its capital at the time this study was conducted.  

 Demand for services by development type. It is important for fire districts to determine 

how impact fees should be allocated according to demand for services by land use so that all 

forms of development pay their fair share of expansion costs. Data from the Weld and 

Larimer County Assessors regarding existing building types and square footage within the 

FRFR service area indicate that the large majority of existing development is single family 

residential (79% single family residential, 5% multifamily residential, 8% commercial, and 

8% industrial). BBC allocated FRFR’s updated development impact fees accordingly, 

because the mix of future development in the region is not expected to differ substantially 

from current land use. 

 Use specificity. To the extent possible, impact fees should reflect the degree to which 

different forms, sizes, and uses of particular types of development will result in different 

demand for public services. However, there is no compelling evidence that suggests that 

larger homes create more demand for public services than smaller homes. In addition, there 

is uncertainty about the nature of future commercial development. As a result, BBC treated 

all residential units equally and all commercial units equally as they relate to public service 

demand.  

 Fee design costs: The cost of fee design studies can be recovered through impact fees, so 

BBC has included the cost of this report in the fee calculations. 

 Proportionality: By using FRFR’s planned future investment in facilities to derive capital 

standards and then setting fee rates to replace the future standards of facility investment, 

BBC has ensured that proportionality has been reasonably and fairly derived.  

  

74

Item #6.



 

BBC RESEARCH & CONSULTING SECTION II, PAGE 2 

A. FRFR Budget Overview 

The FRFR Fire Protection District collects property tax revenue through an 11.642 property tax 

mill in Weld and Larimer Counties. A millage rate is the tax rate used to calculate local property 

taxes and represents the amount per every $1,000 of a property's assessed value that a 

community would charge. In 2022, property taxes accounted for 82 percent of the FRFR total 

annual revenue of $5.6 million. The remaining revenue came from plan and permit fees, specific 

ownership taxes, and other revenue sources. Expenditures totaled $5.3 million in 2022, 

primarily for personnel (64%) and administration (25%). Personnel costs include salaries, 

benefits, and volunteer incentives. 

Front Range Fire Rescue funds capital purchases through the operating budget and through a 2.0 

dedicated mill to the Capital Fund. As discussed on Section I pages 3 and 4, capital investments, 

in general, are used for repair and replacement; betterment of facilities and service standards; 

and expansion of facilities. The dedicated mill for capital purchases is not restricted to a specific 

type of capital need and has historically been used to improve the level of service for existing 

residents. As such, the dedicated capital mill is not a revenue source that would offset impact 

fees; instead, the property tax revenues are likely to be expended for repair and replacement of 

existing infrastructure and service improvement as they are currently. 

Additional property tax and specific ownership tax revenues that fund FRFR’s operating budget 

will continue to be dedicated to ongoing expenses and will not likely be sufficient to fund the 

required level of growth-related capital expansion.  

If the FRFR FPD chooses to instate impact fees of the type calculated later in this analysis, it 

would retain an independent and equitable source of revenue for capital expenditures required 

to serve new growth. With impact fees, new development pays only their equitable pro rata 

share of new infrastructure required to serve them while existing taxpayers will not subsidize 

growth. At the same time, FRFR’s capital and operating funds will be reserved for fiscally 

appropriate, non-growth-related uses. 

  

75

Item #6.



 

BBC RESEARCH & CONSULTING SECTION II, PAGE 3 

B. Impact Fee Calculations 

BBC’s calculations of updated development impact fees for FRFR includes the following steps: 

1. Quantify the infrastructure investment needed to maintain current level of service given 

projected growth; 

2.  Develop estimates of current patterns of building development within the FRFR service 

area; and 

3. Calculate the fire protection infrastructure costs per unit of development (per household or 

per square foot of nonresidential development). 

1. Projected growth and planned future investment. BBC’s estimates of household 

growth rates in FRFR’s service area are based on growth projections by the North Front Range 

Metropolitan Planning Organization (NFRMPO). The existing ratio of single family residential to 

multifamily residential development within the service area is assumed to remain consistent.  

BBC used employment projections from the NFRMPO to estimate new non-residential building 

development in FRFR’s service area. The existing ratios of commercial and industrial building 

space per job within the service area is assumed to remain consistent.4 The forecast period for 

the impact fee calculations is through 2045.  

Figure II-1 displays the growth projections for FRFR’s service area through 2045. Over the 22-

year planning horizon, development in the FRFR service area is projected to produce 12,440 new 

residential units (11,594 of which are single family and 847 of which are multifamily). Non-

residential development is projected to produce 990,000 square feet of additional commercial 

and retail space and 968,000 square feet of additional industrial space. 

Figure II-1. 
FRFR Service Area Growth Projections 

 

Sources: Front Range Fire Rescue, Weld County Assessor, Larimer County Assessor, North Front Range Metropolitan Planning Organization, and BBC 
Research & Consulting. 

FRFR’s current Capital Improvement Plan details significant investments in facilities and 

equipment necessary to serve new growth, as shown in Figure II-2. This figure also shows the 

 

4 In 2023, for each estimated job in the service area there are 111.1 square feet of commercial building space and 108.9 square 

feet of industrial building space.  

Growth Rate Total New Growth

Single family (units) 7,738               4.2% 19,332           11,594           
Multifamily (units) 565                  4.2% 1,412              847                 
Commercial (square feet) 1,277,669       2.6% 2,268,003      990,334         
Industrial (square feet) 1,248,701       2.6% 2,216,582      967,881         

Existing 

Development 

(2023)

Future Development

76

Item #6.



 

BBC RESEARCH & CONSULTING SECTION II, PAGE 4 

portion of the facilities and equipment expense that is eligible to be included in the impact fee 

calculation. 

Figure II-2. 
FRFR Facilities and Capital Investment Plan  

  
Source: Front Range Fire Rescue Capital Improvement Plan 2023 and discussions with FRFR staff. 

Amount x Growth Percentage = Amount to Include in Fees

Facilities: Stations

Station 1 $6,650,000 0% $0

Station 2 $455,000 0% $0

Station 3 $200,000 0% $0

Station 4 $8,000,000 100% $8,000,000

Station 5 $8,350,000 100% $8,350,000

Training Grounds $850,000 0% $0

Two Rivers Training $180,000 0% $0

Logistics Center $50,000 0% $0

Fire Apparatus

2006 2500 gallon Tender (Replacement) $450,000 0% $0

2008 Ford Brush Truck (Station 4) $200,000 100% $200,000

2010 3500 gallon Tender (Replacement) $450,000 0% $0

2013 Dodge Brush Type 6 (Replacement) $200,000 0% $0

2015 Pierce PUC Engines (Replacement) $750,000 0% $0

2015 Pierce PUC Engines (Replacement) $750,000 100% $750,000

2019 Chevy Brush Type 6 $14,000 0% $0

2024 Ladder Truck TBD $1,700,000 100% $1,700,000

2028 Engine (Station 4?) $750,000 100% $750,000

Staff Vehicles

2006 Chevy Pickup (Replacement) $100,000 0% $0

2016 Chevy Tahoe (Replacement) $120,000 0% $0

2016 Ford Explorer (Replacement) $120,000 0% $0

2018 Chevy Colorado (Replacement) $50,000 0% $0

2019 Chevy Silverado 1500 (Replacement) $125,000 0% $0

2021 Ford F 150 BC Truck (Replacement) $125,000 0% $0

2022 Ford F 150 DC Truck $120,000 0% $0

2023 LSB Inspector $50,000 100% $50,000

2023 Emergency Mgmt. $50,000 100% $50,000

2024 OPS BoT LT $120,000 100% $120,000

2025 LSB Inspector $50,000 100% $50,000

Equipment

2021 SCBA (Replacement) $400,000 0% $0

SCBA (Station 4) $90,000 100% $90,000

PPE $490,000 0% $0

TIC $300,000 0% $0

Fitness Equipment - Station 5 $33,000 100% $33,000

Fitness Equipment - Station 4 $25,000 100% $25,000

Other $15,000 0% $0

Station Furniture (Station 4) $300,000 100% $300,000

Station Furniture (Station 5) $300,000 100% $300,000

Extrication Equipment (Station 4) $100,000 100% $100,000

Communications & IT

Radios Replacement $250,000 0% $0

Radios (Station 4) $42,000 100% $42,000

Office PCs $10,000 0% $0

Impact Fee Study $12,000 100% $12,000

Subtotal $20,922,000
Subtract  Impact Fee Fund Balance $1,168,749 100% $1,168,749

Total $19,753,251

77

Item #6.



 

BBC RESEARCH & CONSULTING SECTION II, PAGE 5 

FRFR projects it will need more than $33 million in capital projects to maintain its existing level 

of service at buildout, including approximately $20 million of capital attributable to new growth. 

The capital plan includes two fire stations (#4 and #5), each with a built cost of approximately 

$8 million. Stations 4 and 5 will serve future growth and are therefore 100 percent eligible to be 

included in the fee calculation. Corresponding equipment and apparatus for the two stations are 

also included in the fee calculation. Together, the capital required to serve new growth accounts 

for 60 percent of the total planned investment dollars, all of which are eligible for inclusion in 

the fee study. 

The other 40 percent of the investment outlined in Figure II-2 is not eligible to be included in the 

fee calculation because the improvements are necessary to maintain the current level of service 

for existing residents rather than to serve future growth. Repair and renewal of existing 

stations—as well as the purchase of replacement fire apparatus, vehicles, and equipment—are 

not eligible to be included in the fee calculation for this same reason.  

2. Current distribution of development types. This report utilizes the current distribution 

of development in the FRFR service area as the basis for allocating eligible infrastructure 

expansion costs over different types of land uses. This approach is consistent with the Colorado 

Municipal League’s recommendation that cost allocation be based on a measure of land use.  

The existing mix of residential and non-residential building square footage is shown in Figure II-

3 and is based on data from the Weld County Assessor and the Larimer County Assessor. By 

square footage, the existing built area in FRFR’s service area is 79 percent single family 

residential, 5 percent multifamily residential, 8 percent commercial, and 8 percent industrial 

space.  

Figure II-3. 
Land Uses within FRFR Service Area (% of total built square feet) 

 
Note: Out buildings, roadways, agricultural buildings, mobile homes, schools, churches, and other categories are excluded from the impact fee 

calculation. 

Sources: Front Range Fire Rescue and BBC Research & Consulting. 

  

78

Item #6.



 

BBC RESEARCH & CONSULTING SECTION II, PAGE 6 

3. Impact fee calculation. Figure II-4 uses FRFR’s capital improvement plan costs to 

determine appropriate single family residential, multifamily residential, commercial, and 

industrial impact fees. BBC used the existing distribution of development (Figure II-3) as a proxy 

for service demand and assigned costs to each type of development accordingly.  

Figure II-4 presents fee calculations for each development type. The cost of fire capital 

infrastructure eligible to be included in the impact fee calculation is presented in the top row of 

Figure II-4 (and is identical to the last row of Figure II-2).  

 The first step in calculating the impact fees was to allocate the total value of future fire 

capital infrastructure eligible to be included in the impact fee calculation to each type of 

development based on its proportion of built area as a percent of the total. Thus, BBC 

allocated 79 percent, or $15.7 million, to single family residential development; 5 percent, 

or $1.1 million, to multifamily residential development; 8 percent, or $1.5 million, to 

commercial development; and 8 percent, or $1.5 million, to industrial development.  

 Next, BBC allocated infrastructure costs for each development type to the units of future 

development, based on future growth projections. For residential development, costs were 

allocated to each unit and for commercial and industrial development, costs were allocated 

to each square foot. The resulting figures represent the maximum allowable impact fee that 

can be charged to each unit of new development.  

The result of allocating costs in the manner described above resulted in full cost recovery impact 

fees, which, as shown in the last three rows of Figure II-4 are $1,354 per single family unit, 

$1,247 per multifamily unit, $1.53 per commercial square foot, and $1.53 per industrial square 

foot. This is compared to the existing maximum allowable FRFR impact fees of $1,553 per single 

family unit, $989 per multifamily unit, and $0.88 per non-residential square foot. FRFR can 

choose to charge less than this amount, but discounts must be uniformly applied to all land use 

categories. 

79

Item #6.



 

BBC RESEARCH & CONSULTING SECTION II, PAGE 7 

Figure II-4. 
Full Cost Recovery Impact 
Fees for FRFR 

 

Sources: 

Front Range Fire Rescue and BBC Research & 
Consulting.  

 
 

Calculation of Impact Fees

Value of Future Fire Infrastructure $19,753,251

Building Type Distribution (by square feet)

Single family 79%

Multifamily 5%

Commercial 8%

Industrial 8%

Costs by Building Type

Single family $15,698,788

Multifamily $1,055,818

Commercial $1,516,514

Industrial $1,482,131

Future Development through 2045

Single family (in dwelling units) 11,594

Multifamily (in dwelling units) 847

Commercial (in square feet) 990,334

Industrial (in square feet) 967,881

Impact Fee by Land Use (rounded)

Single family (per dwelling unit) $1,354

Multi-family (per dwelling unit) $1,247

Commercial (per square foot) $1.53

Industrial (per square feet) $1.53

80

Item #6.



 

BBC RESEARCH & CONSULTING SECTION III, PAGE 1 

SECTION III. 
Summary and Recommendations 

The development impact fees of $1,354 per single family residential dwelling unit, $1,247 per 

multifamily residential dwelling unit, and $1.53 per square foot of commercial and industrial 

development that BBC recommends for FRFR’s consideration represent maximum allowable 

amounts, and we recognize that the District may choose not to adopt fees below these amounts. 

BBC also offers the following recommendations for implementing the updated fees: 

 FRFR should continue to maintain its impact fee fund separate and distinct from its 

general fund and make withdrawals from the former only to pay for growth-related 

infrastructure. 

 FRFR should adhere to a written policy governing its expenditure of monies from 

its impact fee fund. The District should not fund operational expenses with impact 

fees under any circumstance, including the repair and replacement of existing 

infrastructure not necessitated by growth. In cases when FRFR expects new 

infrastructure to partially replace existing capacity and to partially serve new 

growth, cost sharing between its general fund (or capital fund) and its impact fee 

fund should be considered on a proportional basis as determined by the board. 

 FRFR’s impact fees should be updated annually at the start of each year based on 

the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistic’s Western Information Office’s consumer price 

index for the West Region.5 

 FRFR should continue to conduct impact fee review studies periodically as it invests 

in additional infrastructure beyond what is listed in this report or if the service area 

population or inventory of non-residential square footage changes substantially. 

 

 

 

5 https://www.bls.gov/regions/west/news-release/consumerpriceindex_west.htm 

81

Item #6.



 

  

TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 

AGENDA DATE:  January 17, 2024 

 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing – New Beer & Wine Liquor License 

Application for Buc-ee’s Johnstown LLC  

                                                 

ACTION PROPOSED: Consider the Liquor License Application 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. Application for a new Beer & Wine License 

                                                2. Results of the Liquor License Needs and Desires Petition 

                                                3. Report from Police Department 

                                                4. Order Granting Beer & Wine License 

 5. Vicinity map  

 6. Preliminary Findings  

 7. Affidavit of Posting 

 

PRESENTED BY: Hannah Hill, Town Clerk  

  

 

    

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

This item is a public hearing to receive comments regarding the proposed Beer & Wine liquor 

license for Buc-ee’s Johnstown LLC dba Buc-ee’s located at 5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO.  

When approving or denying an application, the Council acts as the local licensing authority and 

must consider if the reasonable requirements of the defined neighborhood are not presently being 

met by existing establishments, the desires of the adult inhabitants, and the number, type and 

availability of other similar liquor establishments located in or near the petitioned neighborhood 

as well as the moral character of the applicants. 

  

LEGAL ADVICE: 

The Town Attorney has reviewed the documents submitted.   

 

FINANCIAL ADVICE:   

The applicant has paid all the applicable fees. 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Consider issuing a Beer & Wine Liquor License to Buc-ee’s.  

82

Item #7.



 

 The Community That Cares 
www.TownofJohnstown.com 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 

 

For Approval:  I move to approve the Beer & Wine Liquor License to Buc-ee’s Johnstown LLC 

and authorize the Mayor to sign the Order Granting a Beer & Wine License. 

For Denial: I move to deny approval of the Beer & Wine Liquor License to Buc-ee’s Johnstown 

LLC.  

Reviewed and Approved for Presentation, 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Town Manager 

 

 

 

83

Item #7.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


84

Item #7.



85

Item #7.



86

Item #7.



87

Item #7.



88

Item #7.



89

Item #7.



90

Item #7.



91

Item #7.



92

Item #7.



93

Item #7.



94

Item #7.



2

211

1.8 1

12.12.4

3

33.53.6

4

4

5

5 4.95.25.4

6

66.2

7

77.17.57.8

12

12 9.7

10

1010.8

8

88.48.6

9

910.9

A A

J J

B

A.9

D D

D.4

E E

E.7

F F

F.2

F.4

G G

H

H

H.2 H.2

G.2

G.4

G.8

H.1

E.9

D.6

9.39.4 8.78.810.210.311.1

C

C.3

F.8

F.9

G.9

G.9

D.7

6.17.3 2.83.84.85.55.87.27.7

143

142

141

140B

140A
144

145

146

MERCHANDISE
STORAGE

139

155

131

126

119

151

147

148

149

115B
115A

CONVENIENCE
WAREHOUSE

117

125

WALK-IN
FREEZER

135
WALK-IN COOLER

134

TRUCK DOCK
RECEIVING

137

138

128

153

132

129

130A

130B

136

VESTIBULE 1
100

130

CASHIERS 2
104

154

CASHIERS 3
105

BEVERAGE
COOLER

116

CASHIERS 1
103

GIFT SALES 2
108

VESTIBULE 2
101

GIFT SALES 1
106

VESTIBULE 3
102

109

20
6'-

4"

13
'-1

0"
4'-

10
"

33
'-3

"
39

'-3
"

39
'-3

"
38

'-9
"

49
'-1

0"
34

'-4
"

156157

133

152

124

127

18
'-5

"
8'-

0"
31

'-8
"

8'-
0"

24
'-1

"
47

'-3
"

62
'-1

1"

18'-4"39'-3 1/2"42'-0"42'-0"34'-2"25'-10"50'-2"44'-9"45'-0"39'-3 1/2"

4'-10"32'-3 1/2"40'-0"40'-0"29'-3"8'-11"7'-0"30'-10"33'-5"39'-9"16'-9"15'-8"42'-0"26'-7 1/2"

160'-9"41'-9"61'-0"28'-0"43'-8"27'-4"

25
4'-

10
"

18
'-8

"
33

'-3
"

39
'-3

"
39

'-3
"

38
'-9

"
55

'-1
0"

2'-
4"

2'-
6"

4"

5'-
2"

31
'-8

"
8'-

0"
29

'-1
1 3

/4"
47

'-3
"

28
'-1

 1/
4"

12
3'-

1"
48

'-1
"

14
'-7

"
20

'-7
"

28
'-4

"

4"15'-10"47'-3"1'-2"47'-3"24'-2"29'-4"21'-5 1/2"16'-7"21'-5 1/2"29'-4"55'-3 3/4"47'-3"7 1/4"4"18'-4"

18'-4"39'-3 1/2"42'-0"42'-0"34'-2"25'-10"50'-2"44'-9"45'-0"34'-5 1/2"18'-4"

107

SPECIALTY
FOODS SALES

113

CONVENIENCE
STORE SALES

112

114

118

122120

121 123

TEXAS ROUND UP
110 SWEET STREET

111

397'-4"

362'-6"

8.9

B.1

B.2

22'-0"

77
'-5

 1/
4"

63
'-1

1"

68'-0 3/4"58
'-1

 3/
8"

10'-4"

EXIT

EXIT

EXIT

EXIT

EXIT

EXIT

EXIT

EXIT

EXITEXIT

EXIT

39'-9"

44
'-0

"

54
'-7

 7/
8"

80'-6 1/2"

ROOM NAME INDEX

NOMINAL 8" CONCRETE MASONRY 
UNIT CONSTRUCTION RE: STRUCT.

PLAN LEGEND
WALL PARTITION AS 
SCHEDULED

CONCRETE TILT-WALL 
CONSTRUCTION RE: STRUCT.

SCHEDULED FURRING 
PARTITION ON CONCRETE TILT-
WALL CONSTRUCTION

INSULATED 
COOLER/FREEZER WALL 
PANELS

ALUMINUM & GLASS 
STOREFRONT

STEEL COLUMNS RE: 
STRUCT.

COLUMN GRID 
INDICATOR

U.L. FIRE RATED WALL 
ASSEMBLY

X

GENERAL NOTES
1. EXTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TO CENTERLINE OF COLUMNS OR FACE OF STOREFRONT.
2. EXTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TO FACE OF SLAB @ TILT-WALL/CMU WALL/STUD WALL.
3. SIDEWALKS AT DOORS SHALL BE FLUSH WITH FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION.
4. SLOPE ALL EXIT CONC. PADS & WALKS TO DRAIN AWAY FROM BUILDING RE: CIVIL.   
5. THE CONTRACTOR AND ALL SUB-CONTRACTORS SHALL VERIFY ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS 

PRIOR TO PERFORMING ANY WORK AND SHALL NOTIFY THE ARCHITECT IMMEDIATELY OF 
ANY CONDITIONS THAT MAY EXIST THAT ARE NOT COVERED ON THESE PLANS.

6. THE CONTRACTOR AND ALL SUB-CONTRACTORS SHALL NOT DAMAGE ANY 
INSTRUMENTS OR EQUIPMENT DURING THE COURSE OF THIS PROJECT.

7. THE CONTRACTOR AND ALL SUB-CONTRACTORS SHALL RETURN ANY INSTRUMENTS OR 
EQUIPMENT THAT ARRIVES DAMAGED. 

8. SEAL ALL PENETRATIONS THROUGH FIRE RATED ASSEMBLIES W/ U.L. FIRE RATED 
ASSEMBLIES FOR TYPE OF PENETRATION AND CONSTRUCTION.  

9. METAL STUD FRAMING SHALL BE 18 GA. @ 16" 0.C. UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE. RE: 
STRUCTURAL FOR DETAILS.   

10. BUILDING HEIGHTS AND ELEVATIONS SHALL BE MEASURED FROM FINISH FLOOR.   
11. PROVIDE DOUBLE STUDS, BLOCKING, BRACING AND STEEL BACK-UP PLATES

REQUIRED TO SUPPORT EQUIPMENT, MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS, E.G. CASEWORK, CABINETS, 
GRAB BARS, TOILET ACCESSORIES, FIXTURES, SIGNS, HAND RAILING, ETC. TYPICAL.

12. ALL SYMBOLS, ABBREVIATIONS, AND NOTES MARKED "TYPICAL" OR "TYP." SHALL APPLY IN 
ALL SIMILAR CIRCUMSTANCES.  

13. EXTERIOR FINISHES SHALL BE PLUMB AND ALIGNED AS INDICATED ON THE BUILDING 
ELEVATIONS.  

14. EXTERIOR WOOD BLOCKING AND NAILERS SHALL BE PRESSURE TREATED.
15. DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS.

KEY PLAN

A C

B D

AC

BD

N

7800 Washington Ave., Suite 600
main: 713.600.3600

Houston, TX 77007
www.laarc.com

ISSUE/REVISION LOG:

ISSUED FOR REVIEW:

ISSUED FOR BID:

ISSUED FOR PERMIT:

Copyright 2022 Lawrence S. Levinson, Warning: This document is protected by 
U.S. Copyright Law Under Section 102 of the U.S. Copyright and the 
Architectural Works Copyright Protection Act of 1990. Unauthorized reproduction 
and distribution of this document or any portion of it, other than for use of this 
particular project, is prohibited and may result in severe civil and criminal 
penalties, and will prosecuted to maximum extent possible under the law.

LSL PROJECT NUMBER:

A DEVELOPMENT OF

Buc-ee's Ltd.
Lake Jackson, TX 77566

74
K 

20
21

-Q
4

TEL: (979) 230-2920              

L A W R E N C E   S.    
L E V I N S O N, A.I.A.

BI
M

 3
60

://
60

 - 
Bu

c-
e e

's
 J

oh
n s

to
w

n-
C

O
 (L

)/B
U

C
EE

S 
7 4

K_
JO

H
N

ST
O

W
N

 C
O

_C
en

tra
l_

R
0.

rv
t

Bu
c-

ee
's

 T
ra

ve
l C

en
te

r

XA1.00A
FLOOR PLAN OVERALL

2021-140.000

W
C

R
 4

8 
an

d 
In

te
rs

ta
te

 2
5

Jo
hn

st
ow

n,
 C

O

JOHNSTOWN, CO

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, C

O

1/16" = 1'-0"FLOOR PLAN OVERALL PROTO1

NUMBER ROOM NAME
148 ICE ROOM
149 TOOL ROOM
151 CIGARETTE STORAGE
152 ELECTRICAL ALCOVE
153 BALE STORAGE
154 CHILLER YARD ENCLOSURE
155 BULK STORAGE ROOM
156 PUMP ROOM
157 FILTER ROOM
158 COMPACTOR ENCLOSURE
159 GENERATOR ENCLOSURE
160 GENERATOR MECHANCIAL ROOM
161 MEZZANINE

NUMBER ROOM NAME
125 FOUNTAIN STORAGE ROOM
126 KITCHEN MOP ROOM
127 VENDING COUNTER
128 WARE WASH
129 FRY STATION
130 KITCHEN
130A BAKERY
130B TRU PREP
131 DELI MANAGER
132 PRODUCE PREP.
133 KITCHEN RECEIVING
134 WALK-IN COOLER
135 WALK-IN FREEZER
136 KITCHEN CORRIDOR
137 TRUCK DOCK RECEIVING
138 CONVENIENCE WAREHOUSE CORRIDOR
139 MERCHANDISE STORAGE
140A STORE MANAGER
140B ADMIN. CLERK
141 D.M OFFICE
142 MERCHANDISE MANAGER
143 ONBOARDING OFFICE
144 IT ROOM
145 ELECTRICAL ROOM
146 BOILER ROOM
147 FUEL ALLEY

NUMBER ROOM NAME
100 VESTIBULE 1
101 VESTIBULE 2
102 VESTIBULE 3
103 CASHIERS 1
104 CASHIERS 2
105 CASHIERS 3
106 GIFT SALES 1
107 GIFT SALES RUNWAY
108 GIFT SALES 2
109 SALES
110 TEXAS ROUND UP
111 SWEET STREET
112 CONVENIENCE STORE SALES
113 SPECIALTY FOODS SALES
114 COFFEE AREA
115A COFFEE SUPPY ROOM
115B ICEE STORAGE ROOM
116 BEVERAGE COOLER
117 CONVENIENCE WAREHOUSE
118 RESTROOM CORRIDOR
119 FUDGE & NUT STORAGE
120 WOMEN'S RESTROOM
121 WOMEN'S MOP ROOM
122 MEN'S RESTROOM
123 MEN'S MOP ROOM
124 FOUNTAIN

No. DESCRIPTION DATE

95

Item #7.

carissa.chow
Oval

carissa.chow
Oval



96

Item #7.



97

Item #7.



98

Item #7.



 

 

Alcohol Petitioning Services 
P.O. Box 998 
Johnstown, CO 80534 
(303) 710-3424 

January 4, 2024 
 
 
TO:  Town of Johnstown 
  Liquor Licensing Authority 
  450 South Parish Avenue 

Johnstown, CO 80534 
 
REF:   Neighborhood Survey – New Liquor License 
   
 
 

Survey Overview 
 

Survey of the Reasonable Requirements and Desires of the Neighborhood for the 
following: 
 

Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 
 
Applicant: 
 

Buc-ee’s Johnstown, LLC 
dba Buc-ee’s 

 
Applicant’s Licensed Premises Location: 
 
 5201 Nugget Road 

Berthoud, CO 80513 
 

99

Item #7.



Buc-ee’s Johnstown, dba Buc-ee’s – Neighborhood Survey 

2 | P a g e  
 

 
Survey Methodology 

 
The circulators were over 21 years old. 
 
Each circulator wore Alcohol Petitioning Services (APS) apparel and had a name tag 
identifying their name and the company.   Each circulator also had a clipboard with 
the following: 
 

1. A map of the designated area provided by the Johnstown Town Clerk 
describing the boundaries of the defined neighborhood. 

2. The petition to the Local Licensing Authority of Johnstown that included a 
section where people contacted could indicate their support (in favor) or 
opposition for the liquor license. 

3. A tally sheet to record the results of those who did not sign. 
 
People were shown the petition form, asked to read the form, and verbally told of 
the license type being applied for and the site location/address. 
 
Each person who signed the petition indicated they were either an owner/manager 
of a business or resident located within designated area and were 21 years or older. 
 
Each signature was freely and voluntarily given without any influence of the 
circulator. 
 
 

Survey Circulators and Dates 
 
Circulators conducted the survey on the following dates: 
 

4 Circulators – Wednesday, December 20, 2023 
 

 
 
 
 
 

100

Item #7.



Buc-ee’s Johnstown, dba Buc-ee’s – Neighborhood Survey 

3 | P a g e  
 

Survey Statistics 
 
 
Summary of Signatures Obtained (Note – there are 11 signatures not  
      Included in the initial summary because 

Businesses………….. ..  20  the homes petitioned were not located   
Residences…………..    58  within the neighborhood boundaries) 
  Total     78 

 
 
Details of Signatures Obtained 
      Businesses  Residents  Total 
Signatures in Favor - “Yes” 18          44  62 

Signatures in Opposition – “No”   2          14  16   
       Total           20        58       78 

 
 
Statistical Analysis 
 
In Favor………………  79.5% 
In Opposition………  20.5% 
 
 
 
Details of Opposition 
 
                        Reason      Businesses  Residents  Total 

None Given              0 8 8 
Support Local Business              2 4 6 

Too Much Alcohol              0 1 1 

Too Close to the Interstate              0   1 1 
           Total             2         14    16 
 
 
 
 
 

101

Item #7.



Buc-ee’s Johnstown, dba Buc-ee’s – Neighborhood Survey 

4 | P a g e  
 

Details of Contact Attempts 
                      Total Ratio of Total Contacts 

Signatures Obtained     78                    25.4% 

Not at Home   164                    53.4% 
Not Willing To Sign     38                    12.4% 

Business Closed/Vacant     15                      4.9% 
Owner/Manager Not Available     12                      3.9% 

               Total       307                        100.0%     
 
 
Reason for Contacts Not Willing To Sign 
 
No Opinion 20 

Not Interested 18 
Too Busy   6 

     Total     38 
 
 
Summary of Ratio of Signatures to Contact Attempts 
 
              Signatures          Attempts         Percent 

Business 20      50 40.0% 
Residents 58 257  22.6% 

         Total               78                307                       25.4% (overall) 
 

• An average of 25.4% of attempts to contact people obtained a signature for 
the petition. 

 
 
Actual People Contacts    (Not including Business Closed/Vacant, Owner or 

 Manager Not Available and Not at Home)    
 
              Signatures          Contacts         Percent 
Business 20    23 87.0% 

Residents 50   93  6.24% 
         Total               78               116                        67.2% (overall) 
 

102

Item #7.



Buc-ee’s Johnstown, dba Buc-ee’s – Neighborhood Survey 

5 | P a g e  
 

• An average of 67.2% of eligible people contacted provided a signature for 
the petition. 

 
 
Disqualified Signatures  
 
There were two (2) disqualified signatures: neither of the people (residents – one 
in favor and one opposed) provided a full name or signature. 
 
 
Statistical Analysis with Disqualified Signatures 
 
            Business  Residents  Total 

Signatures in Favor - “Yes” 18           43  61 
Signatures in Opposition – “No”  2           13  15    

       Total           20         56     76 
 
In Favor………………   80.3% 
In Opposition……..    19.7% 
 
 
Statistical Analysis For Needs and Desires 
 
There were sixteen (151) signatures in opposition to the liquor license.  Seven (7) of 
the signatures in opposition provided a reason, and eight (8) of the signatures in 
opposition did not provide a reason.  In order to show a “Needs and Desires” of the 
neighborhood, the reasons should include whether or not the existing number of 
licenses for the same type of license is sufficient for the designated neighborhood.   
 
Six (6) of the reasons provided could reasonably qualify as an opposition due to 
“needs and desires” and one (1) would not qualify.  Since eight (8) of the people 
did not provide a reason, it is not known if the opposition would qualify as a reason 
that would reasonably fit the definition of “needs and desires.”  If you only consider 
reasons that would reasonably fit the definition of “needs and desires,” you have 
the following: 
 

 
1 One of the opposition signatures was disqualified 

103

Item #7.



Buc-ee’s Johnstown, dba Buc-ee’s – Neighborhood Survey 

6 | P a g e  
 

             
Business  Residents  Total 

Signatures in Favor - “Yes” 18          43 61 

Signatures in Opposition – “No”  2            6    8  
       Total           20         49    69 

 
In Favor………………    88.4% 
In Opposition…….…  11.6% 
 
 
Final Analysis 
 
Therefore, the final analysis of the “Needs and Desires” is between 80.3% and 
88.4% of the people who signed the petition are in favor of the issuance of the new 
liquor license. 
 

 
Report Attachments 

 
Included in this report are the following: 
 

1. A copy of the map provided by Johnstown Town Clerk for the designated 
area. 

2. A copy of the map indicating the area where circulators petitioned.   
3. A copy of the petitions where signatures were obtained in support or 

opposition of Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer Liquor License. 
4. Affidavits of Circulators for signatures obtained. 

 
Report Prepared and Submitted by: 

 
_____________________________ 
Patrick Maroney 
President 
PS Logistics, LLC 
dba Alcohol Petitioning Services 

104

Item #7.



105

Item #7.



106

Item #7.

newhe
Typewriter
Buc-ee's Map - Petitions



Affidavit of Circulator 

I, ____ _eL z.e__ ...,.... z.e.-./3:5  , circulated the attached petition 

pertaining to the application of Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC, dba Buc-ee's for licensing by the Local 

Licensing Authority of the Town of Johnstown, Colorado. The petition was circulated from 

3  to  "-Yars/.4 5 , and only within the defined neighborhood 

boundaries established by the Local Licensing Authority on the map provided here. I hereby certify that 

the persons whose signatures and addresses appear signed this petition in my presence after indicating 

they were at least twenty-one (21) years of age and after having read the petition. I further certify that, 

to the best of my knowledge, each signature appearing on the petition is who it purports to be and that 

and the address given with each name indicated is the true business or residence of the person signing 

the petition. 

STATE OF COLORADO 

) ss 

COUNTY OF

Signature of Circulator 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this:kiT day oft cr, 20  1-  . By the person known to me to be 

YV VAC_ elo 
My commission expires: 

01 
Notary Public 

PATRICK MARONEY 
Notary Public 

State of Colorado 
Notary ID #20224011590 

My Commission Expires 03-23-2026 
107

Item #7.



-) 

" 1/41101.01 P•11110/41144. 5IA/M1111, 

APPLICANT:  Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC dba Buc-ee's 

APPLICATION TYPE: Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 

LOCATION:  5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO 80513 

Please print and sign your name: First Name, Middle Initial, Last Name. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE AUTHORITY: 

DATE & TIME: January 17, 2024 at 7 p.m. 
LOCATION: 450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO 80534 

DATE PRINT NAME BUSINESS NAME (IF APPLICABLE) MARK ONE "X" 

B SIGNATURE STREET ADDRESS AGE FAVOR OPPOSE 

k?.?„.et
7 0? ) 

7ilicicze i L.(4iciii " Y C̀441544" °le' 66
REASON: 

77,,v (CIRCLS ONE) ESID OWNER MANAGER 

z(i  zi) 

2.62) 

.,,, A, 
Oharto 

0 ?6

REASON: 

I 11 ck-x-.4 .3 to—il e 

('L.D:r" ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDEN--.1: OWNER MANAGER 

1 Z-fr j)

7 ,t) ) 

af ibt7rairt(1 10 / 4 - 9 "  5afte ) &n... 2  cl, 

--NnL15 -to 1 A CC 9 2 -----

REASON: 

ii i Arcit.-414., ( CIRCLE ONE) E2.!.21. L4T OWNER MANAGER 

(240 (41 CM' f° ff ef T011

4, 

27-6
REASON: 

CIRCLE ONE) RESIDEN OWNER MANAGER 

I 
ei `•\\ .)3%, . .&--k-IA 5C5 /) 

- C.? 5 -4=1-r-1 D5 7-a "I E -PaZ 7 0 
4 REASON: 

--- ‘, 
( CIRCLE ON OWNER MANAGER 

I A /A0 (144/PLK-e r6vf-' 4Q2-1" 4 -' 3 a 5c-Jrctsrlkk- (.,, _ 
REASON 

kV C- CeAr -156 n ( CIRCLE ONE) . S:K OWNER MANAGER 

alto/ '-(3 (-19 (7 iz-td_rcck,i---; 
sC )c 

REASON: 

I ,, ., OWNER MANAGER ( CIRCLE ONE 

1:13 
L., 0 )( 

REASON: 

Ls*1(.6.1t5 (CIRCLE ONE) ESIDE T OWNER MANAGER 

Page  /  of 108

Item #7.



k), "tun Pt Knout, Stu,. ••• 

APPLICANT:  Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC dba Buc-ee's 

APPLICATION TYPE: Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 

LOCATION:  5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO 80513 

Please print and sign your name: First Name, Middle Initial, Last Name. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE AUTHORITY: 

DATE & TIME: January 17, 2024 at 7 p.m. 

LOCATION: 450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO 80534 

DATE 
PRINT NAME BUSINESS NAME (IF APPLICABLE) MARK ONE "X" 

_ 

B SIOIATURE — STREET ADDRESS AGE FAVOR OPPOSE 

Z C.) 54 %1 0 5 -Ta P S b r. 33 X 

"-REASON: 

C MA p 1 N ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

La/ go/ 
23 

S . s-l-ote Lug cizr Poc,K_ x REASON:nic k ,  

d(OM
, .. A 

it

D ._. .. 

11 ...-----....., 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNE MANAGER 

I 

t 0/7.: 

y i SAdowa_ 
j//2 Wit4e- (9 'i . 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT WNER MANAGER 

( i I (Yll i , t -r6tyrovvs REASON: 

_....,. 
41W Kt ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

3-5-t) 4; ot ,--- (Lori( 
7 ?( 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT C.—.G0 MANAGER 

R.) 
REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 
Li Lvo c 1 ..6,,, pr

32
REASON: 

'1 

_ 
( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNE MANAGER 

vz...,, 
'' ) 

L , L\2_,Li ',1"---tokes-voc•-1 e 
601) 

„.") REASON: 

"-----OWNER ' ------ • ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDE MANAGER 

(/(Initials:  9? Page 2"  of  3 
109

Item #7.



NI 41 /t11 II PI I I III/HIM. S.,11 1 • 

APPLICANT:  Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC dba Buc-ee's 
APPLICATION TYPE: Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 
LOCATION:  5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO 80513 

Please print and sign your name: First Name, Middle Initial, Last Name. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE AUTHORITY: 

DATE & TIME: January 17, 2024 at 7 p.m. 

LOCATION: 450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO 80534 

DATE PRINT NAME BUSINESS NAME (IF APPLICABLE) MARK ONE "X" 

6 SIqNAT1112E STREET ADDRESS AGE FAVOR OPPOSE 

l ,l?lzo 6, 
L-120 r-/-43 si 

( 4 
REASON: 

5k1/4,(A, 6,c(„ c)-- 0.6 „ e___ ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT (0\A---- 4. MANAGER 

. 
REASON: 

-R 

( CIRCLE ONE) REKDIN:.) OWNER MANAGER 

.
P4 ) Hbq boo-1d eir Lrt EASON: 

— 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

Z./61L-7--4 "- ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNE MANAGER 

I g/0 

Vs-A - 'g ...., vc_ '9-q &NI c)42, - tr\ REASON: 

1 r. ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNE MANAGER 

(1 1?rze L ieek---s>r 31/4 6r44:k WA Y 

7011b1) kv (I $ X 

REASON: 

AY' 1.' el); (le_siAd ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNE MANAGER 

/7-770 
Z--------- 3  V.14 ',/ifiz-c, 4.__ iliee. 

L:,  6, Pt 5420- 6 L e , 6 1 2
3 /C_ 

REASON: 

e...0 /7 (CIRCLE ONE EN OWNER MANAGER 

04 1'49

-5 Le,ii icirmit_ 3 o\ 6twarky Wct../ 
S L )( 

REASON: 

>d4 .‘ "ki  1/ / / l t - 
( CIRCLE ONE RESID....5. 91 WNE7 MANAGER 

Initials: Page-3  of 13 110

Item #7.



Affidavit of Circulator 

J/1-415.5 4,.(_>/v/,/ , circulated the attached petition 

pertaining to the application of Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC, dba Buc-ee's for licensing by the Local 

Licensing Authority of the Town of Johnstown, Colorado. The petition was circulated from 

"a,  to  /z/ZP/0  , and only within the defined neighborhood 

boundaries established by the Local Licensing Authority on the map provided here. I hereby certify that 

the persons whose signatures and addresses appear signed this petition in my presence after indicating 

they were at least twenty-one (21) years of age and after having read the petition. I further certify that, 

to the best of my knowledge, each signature appearing on the petition is who it purports to be and that 

and the address given with each name indicated is the true business or residence of the person signing 

the petition. 

STATE OF COLORADO 

COUNTY OF

Subscribed and sworn to before me this day of 

L 

My commission expires: 

—1-1 —1-0 

PATRICK MARONEY 
Notary Public 

State of Colorado 
Notary ID #20224011590 

My Commission Expires 03-23-2026 

Signature of Circulator 

wit-00 2-3  By the person known to me to be 

No ary Public 

111

Item #7.



kll 111101 PI-11110,11•14. SIIISIt IS 

APPLICANT:  Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC dba Buc-ee's 

APPLICATION TYPE: Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 

LOCATION:  5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO 80513 

Please print and sign your name: First Name, Middle Initial, Last Name. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE AUTHORITY: 

DATE & TIME: January 17, 2024 at 7 p.m. 

LOCATION: 450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO 80534 

DATE 
PRINT NAME BUSINESS NAME (IF APPLICABLE) MARK ONE "X" 

SINATURE STREET ADDRESS AGE FAVOR OPPOSE 

i 1." 2.0 -13 14 ec,-Vo r Gin 001 GS- 4 I i G a 1-c way Dr 
CLe d d.4 1 Gt.. 

14 

REASON: 

w 1 -,' CL—a, ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER NCIAN.E..L.)
L/S f .' 1 14/41-e/,_5 y Rd. tha.4fr 5,,,3 /01g3 e.„, 

(.ditiblie, p ittilcki ., t( >\--- 
REASON: , ,. ......___ ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

tt lat 7e )
t( i /1 67 L/75- ---e,4,h.., Pa,

( 

REASON: 

• 
( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER ANAGER 

12J (49/ 

t

1-7.ei-e 16- tk- 
445- 13es ti e.--711— D9— 

'N.---r-i-fo..AD, ec,

7REASON. 
41 6/H-r iii/eZ (...), CaL 100 51 /l..) -_S 

''—D -1* . 0
(CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER)

\111,o 
lirtrab5 3 \ (4. eqx9n-t-Y 9 f 

1:306-vio,,O. i cx 2,5 V 

REASON: 

/1 
, c f-xlan.r? ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER CM R 7 

ab 00 

i ---,t\ 

or 1 a J -C'o v- \ () G tcoLkr Orzer Z, 
REASON: 

CAA.Ajc ,cii,. ..........--- (CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT 4040 MANAGER 
/5tRX41( pciv, 

/j' 1/7- (1 
5-7 , REASON5-A: i z,,,,t 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 
- . 

U.
 
I 19 (491)  '-5 -1Q

'd; 

l}i, 1 4-- --- 
14 8

REASON: 

_ 

't/ -- c. >(---- ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MiWZEIDI 
Page I of 3 

112

Item #7.



# 1: 

0110t Pt 11110N11.. SLUSH IS 

APPLICANT:  Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC dba Buc-ee's 

APPLICATION TYPE: Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 

LOCATION:  5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO 80513 

Please print and sign your name: First Name, Middle Initial, Last Name. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE AUTHORITY: 

DATE & TIME: January 17, 2024 at 7 p.m. 

LOCATION: 450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO 80534 

DATE 
PRINT NAME BUSINESS NAME (IF APPLICABLE) MARK ONE "X" 

SIO)ATURE STREET ADDRESS AGE FAVOR OPPOSE 

/1/- i s, / 

A7 

V i... ./. 161 ./..:: 

_e>1,...,f---
0 

.5 igo 1.--0-,-5.s (3-c__ . .-a 2 i + x .

REASON: 

-6a) ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER . N.C.717-kNA-4-0 
'

/. m 3 , ,N4 095 15 1-7 Rett..icko 1.4kAy 
5 7 

REASON 

...-- 
( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER (....N71ANAGER,..) 

I 7/7 1#3 

k; (k___ _e,.,sv Kt Ee,e, ‘.. k-4-..._ ,,,,- „,,x  r , Ira.'" 

1/ 1

REASONN-

rif frildt, I 51 -c..i.  mod( B.,,,,; 4,24.5 
- L__.----- ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER C_MANAGER 

11• 4• 
._9.- 

"-Yzatir -- , On TM ''' 
..._ MIMMIIIII 

REASON 

—.ohs AA , __ , • 14,; ( 
_ 

( CIRCLE ONEillaPP ; • • ' '

— 

12/ 2D/ 
X- 

. - ___ 

40/NOVII.10t4 let - - 
CdtA ( CIRCLE ONE) (RE ENT) OWNER MANAGER 

\ 1 1/ rit3 C5W/a414'.10.-LKL.----------

REASON 

1 1T 

- 

( CIRCLE ONE   OWNER MANAGER 
11/0/j 1

REASON 

_ 
( CIKLE ONE) " ES I I - OWNER MANAGER 

ON* 
REASON 

RESIOEN- -OWNER MANAGER 
Initials:    of 

113

Item #7.



APPLICANT:  Buc-ee's Johnstown LLC dba Buc-ee's 

APPLICATION TYPE: Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 

LOCATION:  5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO 80513 

Please print and sign your name: First Name, Middle initial, Last Name. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE AUTHORITY: 

DATE & TIME: January 17, 2024 at 7 p.m. 

LOCATION: 450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO 80534 

DATE 
PRINT NAME BUSINESS NAME OF APPLICABLE) MARK ONE "K" 

- 

B SIGNATURE STREET ADDRESS AGE FAVOR OPPOSE 

\ AX1-.°
t l  I  V NI )

U 1  (eel4k5t - w) 
3) ,/ 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) R;SIDFNII) OWNER MANAGER 

7 7k7‘ 

REASON:

( CIRCLE ONE) 4.  iaal - OWNER MANAGER 

NA, -̀A/ it, 
len' i  ‘55-tif)4 rif2

7 .-
/ r  1

REASON:t, 01 ,.75,  b T7,,, ,iii, 51x.:60._, e
I CIRCLE ONE) (RISTDTK--  OWNER MANAGER 

( ! //t (i-P °4vX—.
_1144

1 2 /to /A-V-,1 kP, (4,••• it ci )., 

6 / -10 FOIX/4.- Pr- 70 / 
REASON: 

..3. ( CIRCLE ONE) ESIDEN OWNER MANAGER 

" "-- 1-1-4-- qc)-- 5 j1/411v5c 4 -6)._tie 5/ 
REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT 0 MANAGER 
•-•-.._ 16 fit_ ea C.!--"- 

( /Zi) 
ty.,..._ „.-- REASON: 

tr"‘A 5  .e .  64-C-r___ 6cy..„46... 
( CIRCLE ON 4 070 NER MANAGER 

41._ . 
---3 ----- .---)T -7 - 7 ._____, , 

211P Ckri\- \I 6.cit-b•o il S L.) ii-ko S5 fock wey 5-7 ,./ 
\. 

1..--
REASON: 

____ 
( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT 6A/L1.1) MANAGER 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

Page3  of  )114

Item #7.



Affidavit of Circulator 

I,  lea 4-e pi , circulated the attached petition 

pertaining to the application of Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC, dba Buc-ee's for licensing by the Local 

Licensing Authority of the Town of Johnstown, Colorado. The petition was circulated from 

/Z/26/43  to  OW2.3  , and only within the defined neighborhood 

boundaries established by the Local Licensing Authority on the map provided here. I hereby certify that 

the persons whose signatures and addresses appear signed this petition in my presence after indicating 

they were at least twenty-one (21) years of age and after having read the petition. I further certify that, 

to the best of my knowledge, each signature appearing on the petition is who it purports to be and that 

and the address given with each name indicated is the true business or residence of the person signing 

the petition. 

STATE OF COLORADO 

) s s 

COUNTY OF  Li J 

Signature of Circulator 

Subscribed and sworn to before me thisti'Lday °ta t  jkl , 2O'1 By the person known to me to be 

Rk / 

My commission expires: 

o _ 

Notary Public 

PATRICK MARONEY 
Notary Public 

State of Colorado 
Notary ID #20224011590 

Commission Expires 03-23-2026 115

Item #7.



1i(01401PIAMILMI444.511.41, 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

APPLICANT:  Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC dba Buc-ee's 

APPLICATION TYPE: Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 

LOCATION:  5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO 80513 

Please print and sign your name: First Name, Middle Initial, Last Name. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE AUTHORITY: 

DATE & TIME: January 17, 2024 at 7 p.m. 

LOCATION: 450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO 80534 

DATE 
PRINT NAME BUSINESS NAME (IF APPLICABLE) MARK ONE "X" 

B SIGNATURE STREET ADDRESS AGE FAVOR OPPOSE 

_5- 01 e 5 P ce, A 4 13 L 
4, 

S-15 t/ 
REASON: 

11 ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER 
- 

MAN_A_Gyi 

142) 
Ivi 44.1, e( t C.0 gb 5-7 z/Y \V

REASON: 

11 
K4, a- A4,4, el,-;,41,i ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT 

• 
OWNER 

- -----_ 
MANAG_03 

111 24 23

390 001-:.' ....."V-4.)-st \ \i; e,..:„ ,,).-- 

.g,,,.,- )0„.6-,6 , co Sts i 5 

REASON: 

- - --------------L------.)-' 

C{ ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER ANAGER 
— 

4/2 6/U ti  /V-,J2---• (  -7, 111004i7a i4) Oigliz) 

L k m • CO Efl i / ''. ---1, 

-, 

3 .
/ 

1...-7--

REASON: 

A ' — 
IL) L/1 672R ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

-- 

rz / 2 e123 EtAck_i\ o 
e (2___ Vfx_t-•.\-\- 

32, \ er,c,ke_r V .

REASON: 

er 
( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER (V1 ,1AGEFD 

i 
1 -7 2 0 1 I- '\ 1 kt 15 c-,IN15 ( 2 

21 (. 45 -701-1 (-..2-- 00i - .c 
REASON: 

A '(CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT N_E12......) MANAGER 

11 -741 A- r2,1 . i/fd 74., (,7 13/ 1_144re. /27/L. #' 2. 

t 'i) . 
Vn5r> 

REASON: 

x 
( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT 

,----,, 
(WNER) 

— 
MANAGER 

17 - 2o) 

V 

, ' 1 , . 

1 V V 1  
tik. 

--40(p 6CiSocr bc *kk 

bi 2 1r -VIVIAU (I Pr) W -..)13 LILI 

REASON: L "" 

X 

. -r-----LI LAA '1k Li /AN'
( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

) 

Initials: 1 Page of ( 
116

Item #7.



APPLICANT:  Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC dba Buc-ee's 
APPLICATION TYPE: Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 
LOCATION:  5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO 80513 

Please print and sign your name: First Name, Middle initial, Last Name. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE AUTHORITY: 
DATE & TIME: January 17, 2024 at 7 p.m. 
LOCATION: 450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO 80534 

DATE PRINT NAME BUSINESS NAME (IF APPLICABLE) Wm( ONE "X" 

8 SIONA rugE STREET ADA9RESS AGE FAVOR OPPOSE 

27L
11 . 

2 .

illi

i 

r; -4- --8, r,

X 

REASON:

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT V„.1‘...11R) MANAGER IQ/

VIZOIZ3 1 -1(kfir % p e111011 
197., &60 -6/ 00 / C-ItCle Z,) 

REASON: 

X'ag%fiftahf ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER 6,17,71019 

I Veit) ..-. , 1li  /41
Si, GO4CIAA7  C 1 l 'Cie•-• 3.) )c .

REASON: 

(CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANA 

i t) P7 
F 1 

• -?:-X 
LG- t-v, cc- /, w..... REASON: 

, 

Nk 
_j_ilis--5.-/ 

67- X 
( CIRCLE ONE) ESIDE OWNER MANAGER 

101 GO  

• 
Ipc6

— 

)( 
REASON: 

ik 

( CIRCLE ONE) @SIDENT OWNE7 MANAGER 

AlZ\ F

I 

/1) --

REASON: 

\ i 
( CIRCLE ONE RESIDENT' OWNER MANAGER 

4 1 0
Y) 

)( 

REASON:

,  ) 
( CIRCLE 0 ) RESID T OWNER MANAGER 

' 0 

A 

--3 

1<tcritu -\ 3 2 3 .29 A REASON: _....._, ---. 4.f281-6--61-- 

A' rT14,— &r ,7/ 
( CIRCLE ONE(RESID6.3 ) OWNER MANAGER 

Initials: Page 2...of 117

Item #7.



\ VI 1 11 1i IIN I N 

APPLICANT:  Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC dba Buc-ee's 

APPLICATION TYPE: Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 
LOCATION:  5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO 80513 

Please print and sign your name: First Name, Middle Initial, Last Name. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE AUTHORITY: 

DATE & TIME: January 17, 2024 at 7 p.m. 

LOCATION: 450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO 80534 

DATE 
PRINT NAME BUSINESS NAME OF APPLICABLE) MARK ONE "X" 

B SI NATURE STREET ADDRESS AGE FAVOR OPPOSE 

/.2/ , 

7‘..,/,,3

\ 

3

, 4
VAA V N j  31 

fti(\'CIK\
v .‘ 2\ / 

REASON: 

r\ I:\ C cArnellertj 
, (CIRCLE° ) RESID EN OWNER MANAGER 

±1, C)1 Gerr6k.,One, LA-\ ' 
 I 

REASON: 

Tarnmk3 Mex-r-i-f-1- (CIRCLE ONE) RESIDEN OWNER MANAGER 
'REASON: 

i Z./ 

1.4) 

.....--r--  ..--"----- I f2,•vi3 loAAb,,, i d k.) I "2- Fbs5 I a. 
NI- R. / 

e t---0 stATucc s /vv\ IA. 1-. 11 - )3/111,i,
...,----- - (CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

12/20 4 a,,c_ kJ 300 6 cs; 1 P C---- 4) 5 1- 
REASO.N: 

5 61,Por- local 401 C .S. Yed
( CIRCLE ON RESIDENT WNER MANAGER -, 

REASON: 

- (CIRCLE ONE) CIESIDEN OWNER MANAGER 
121 7-0 e - Artcavls LOA, MUCC goe.e - 0...k,-(d 

39 i 

REASON: 

(----DEN OWNER MANAGER( CIRCLE ONE 

11  /10 
I a V it-Airli 

, 

3S-z) 11114q ro(k wit.) Lis \.7  
REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT :3,WNER2 MANAGER 
a9. 0  mb's_ .(5c-e_In.) 61, st.1 I 

REASON: 

L f i 7 r--0.."--- ( CIRCLE ONE RESIDENT WNER----..y1ANAGER 
Initials: Page 3 of 118

Item #7.



\ II 'III II PI I I III .r41111 SI 11,14 , 

APPLICANT:  Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC dba Buc-ee's 

APPLICATION TYPE: Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 

LOCATION:  5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO 80513 

Please print and sign your name: First Name, Middle Initial, Last Name. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE AUTHORITY: 

DATE & TIME: January 17, 2024 at 7 p.m. 
LOCATION: 450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO 80534 

DATE PRINT NAME BUSINESS NAME (IF APPLICABLE) MARK ONE "X" 

B SIGNATURE STREET ADDRESS AGE FAVOR OPPOSE 

,.5 .-7 / 4,7-->e3 Xrke...47 ,
., ..1..... 1./ 

REASON: 

/2124 e:, 
61,7/124e, e'eve2 

@,..5- .5/ ( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

( oRcLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

(CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

Page A of 119

Item #7.



Affidavit of Circulator 

I,  LA J1 fra • Le--u/1  ,circulated the attached petition 

pertaining to the application of Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC, dba Buc-ee's for licensing by the Local 

Licensing Authority of the Town of Johnstown, Colorado. The petition was circulated from 

Pey. OD, a1,02  to  Oe_c_ . 2o 2.0z3  , and only within the defined neighborhood 
/ 

boundaries established by the Local Licensing Authority on the map provided here. I hereby certify that 

the persons whose signatures and addresses appear signed this petition in my presence after indicating 

they were at least twenty-one (21) years of age and after having read the petition. I further certify that, 

to the best of my knowledge, each signature appearing on the petition is who it purports to be and that 

and the address given with each name indicated is the true business or residence of the person signing 

the petition. 

Signature of Circulator 

STATE OF COLORADO 

) ss 

COUNTY OF  its/di

Subscribed and sworn to before me thisao day otk(1444-', 20 1-3 . By the person known to me to be 

6vMy commission expires: 1
Notary Public 

PATRICK MARONEY 
Notary Public 

State of Colorado 
Notary ID #20224011590 

My Commission Expires 03-23-2026 
120

Item #7.



Pk" omm St .m, 

APPLICANT:  Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC dba Buc-ee's 

APPLICATION TYPE: Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 

LOCATION:  5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO 80513 

Please print and sign your name: First Name, Middle Initial, Last Name. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE AUTHORITY: 

DATE & TIME: January 17, 2024 at 7 p.m. 

LOCATION: 450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO 80534 

DATE PRINT NAME BUSINESS NAME OF APPLICABLE) MARK ONE "X" 

B SIONATURE STREET ADDRESS AGE FAVOR OPPOSE 

I I  ' '' 

,,, i .,,ii_

5 zz-

Pi 
--> --- 
) 4 

7\ 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) I ST6Tr:i OWNER MANAGER

9 Li 2c) Rs3cAss‘P.kt v 
REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) ESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 
, 

LW . 3cAaitrzA t n • 
6''‘ X 

REASON: 

ue CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT ) OWNER MANAGER 
_.-- 

....-- 

0 

. 

REASON:( 

(CIRCLE ONE) E OWNER MANAGER 

Pli Ci‘ 1 ( idol ', e 
REASON: 

MT) ( 
(CIRCLE ONE) RIS-I-D-N\T OWNER MANAGER 

W tt k se 3 tA*0 .

REASON: .....) 

( CIRCLE ONE)r=r: ". rr) OWNER MANAGER 
.._ 

I ej2,0 Z— 33-7( ei7f-ii,,,,__, 3i, >' 
REASON: 

- --- 
_Ivah,42 rki (CIRCLE ONE) ICSIDEN OWNER MANAGER 

1 ' AO 

,tc_______ 406 ,...4 • ',Luz' 4.1.._ 1\ 
REASON: 

4 /01/a/Ve V641 -1 

-% 
( CIRCLE ONE RESIDENT ) OWNER MANAGER 

_..., 

Initials: Page of 3_ 
121

Item #7.



NI 1//III4 PI,IIJOhiii44. SI N. IS 

APPLICANT:  Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC dba Buc-ee's 

APPLICATION TYPE: Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 

LOCATION:  5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO 80513 

Please print and sign your name: First Name, Middle initial, Last Name. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE AUTHORITY: 
DATE & TIME: January 17, 2024 at 7 p.m. 
LOCATION: 450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO 80534 

DATE 
PRINT NAME BUSINESS NAME (IF APPLICABLE) MARK ONE "X" 

B SIONA TURF STREET ADDRESS AGE FAVOR OPPOSE 

OP ir3 lil tvtt-ctk qg-1 eatictpx-- bev 
3°S3 3°S3'1

( 
3451Avx_9-ezxAel OD '1 51 K., 

REASON: 

Li al f-C 1- c.4\Alvt.toiLt
CIRCLE ONE) aP INT OWNER MANAGER 

\9 1))195

-I t iej3 ed 69-/Ci le-I

• 
REASON: 

11-4) Cki4 ( CIRCLE ONE) ESII9sIT OWNER MANAGER 
:1 2. '- ir tele.-e-- ?..,,,‘ 

' 2•- k 

REASON: 

4,4=,- 
(..1,4c._ ( CIRCLE ONE) SIDEN OWNER MANAGER 

'4;W GRAot ,i-r  7 "/ 
REASON: 

ihuotsi i t) ( CIRCLE ONE)(IFM -r)  OWNER MANAGER 

'0 Vf,tht Vmok,414 3 z47 6raiiiik LAct-i ti s- 
REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) 40, T OWNER MANAGER 

i* I5 . lIktC

47,c, aree. Oai , 
b° 

X 

REASON: 

i 
(CIRCLE ONE) dCSifirati .  OWNER MANAGER 

-3 i L i GE0n 1 4-e. t,30,1 REASON: 

-P-1 ( CIRCLE ON RESIDEN OWNER MANAGER 
00 • 01111 

r  o f f

j ,p,, 9307 Cobb) e4Arr 
L i) 

- 
REASON: 

/'. 
6 (CIRCLE ON RESIDEN) OWNER MANAGER 

Initials: Page g -• of  .3122

Item #7.



;kJ< OMNI Pt Ilotttmte. stnytt 

APPLICANT:  Buc-ee's Johnstown, LLC dba Buc-ee's 
APPLICATION TYPE: Fermented Malt Beverage and Wine Retailer 
LOCATION:  5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, CO 80513 

Please print and sign your name: First Name, Middle Initial, Last Name. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE AUTHORITY: 

DATE & TIME: January 17, 2024 at 7 p.m. 

LOCATION: 450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO 80534 

DATE PRINT NAME BUSINESS NAME (IF APPLICABLE) MARK ONE "X" 

B SIGNATURE STREET ADDRESS AGE FAVOR OPPOSE 

-REASON: 

.---, 

, CIRCLE ONE) RENT) OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

REASON: 

( CIRCLE ONE) RESIDENT OWNER MANAGER 

Init)als:  krfA l Page 137)  of 
123

Item #7.



124

Item #7.



TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN 

LIQUOR LICENSING AUTHORITY 

450 S. Parish Avenue 

Johnstown, CO 80534   

Phone No. (970) 587-4664 

IN THE MATTER OF: 

 

BUC-EE’S JOHNSTOWN, LLC 

5201 Nugget Road,  

Berthoud, CO 80513 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

∆ AUTHORITY USE ONLY ∆ 

 

 

 

ORDER GRANTING A BEER AND WINE LICENSE 

TO BUC-EE’S JOHNSTOWN, LLC  

 

 

 THIS MATTER came before the Town of Johnstown Liquor Licensing Authority 

(“Authority”) on the Application of Buc-ee’s Johnstown, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company (“Applicant”), for a Beer and Wine License dated December 7, 2023, for a premises 

located at 5201 Nugget Road, Berthoud, Colorado 80513 (“Application”).   

 

The Authority, having conducted a public hearing on January 17, 2024, after due notice, 

reviewed the Application and considered the evidence adduced by Town staff’s investigation and 

the evidence presented by the Applicant and parties in interest, as the term is defined in C.R.S. 

§44-3-311(5)(b), including but not limited to the petition circulated by the Applicant, hereby 

FINDS AS FOLLOWS: 

 

1. The appropriate fees were paid; 

 

2. The Applicant is entitled to possession of the premises where the beer and wine 

license is to be exercised;  

 

3. The Applicant is of good moral character and entitled to hold the beer and wine 

license;  

 

4. The location of the premises complies with the zoning requirements; and 

 

5. The reasonable requirements of the designated neighborhood, the desires of the 

adult inhabitants of the designated neighborhood and the number, type and availability of alcohol 

beverage outlets support the issuance of the beer and wine license. 

 

125

Item #7.



Based on the foregoing, the Authority hereby ORDERS that Buc-ee’s Johnstown, LLC’s 

application for a Beer and Wine License is GRANTED.    

 

Done and dated this ___ day of January, 2024. 

 

       BY THE AUTHORITY: 

 

 

       ______________________________ 

       Troy D. Mellon  

       Mayor, Town of Johnstown 

       Chairperson, Liquor Licensing Authority  

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________ 

Hannah Hill, Town Clerk  

        

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I hereby certify that on this ___ day of __________, 2024, a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing Order was sent by certified mail to: 

 

 Buc-ee’s Johnstown, LLC  

327 FM 2004 Road 

 Lake Jackson, Texas 77566 

 

______________________________ 

Hannah Hill  

 

 

 

126

Item #7.



8,815

1,469.1

© Weld County Colorado

1,117.1

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Feet1,117.1

Notes

Legend

This map is a user generated static output from an Internet mapping site and is for

reference only. Data layers that appear on this map may or may not be accurate,

current, or otherwise reliable.

558.560

1: 6,703

Parcels

Highway

County Boundary

127

Item #7.



TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN LIQUOR LICENSING AUTHORITY, JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO  

JANUARY 4, 2024 

PRELIMINARY FINDINGS AND REPORT UPON APPLICATION FOR BEER AND WINE LIQUOR 

LICENSE FOR BUC-EE’S JOHNSTOWN LLC DBA BUC-EE’S LOCATED AT 5201 NUGGET ROAD  

TO THE APPLICANT NAMED ABOVE AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES; 

Pursuant to Colorado Revised Statues Section 44-3-312, as amended, you are hereby advised that 

with regard to your application for a Beer and Wine Liquor License, a preliminary investigation has been 

made, and based on the results thereof the following has been determined:  

1) The application was filed on December 7, 2023

2) The Notice of Public Hearing on this matter was or will be published in the Johnstown Breeze on

January 4, 2024. The applicant shall or has posted for 10 consecutive days the notice of public hearing

beginning no later than January 6, 2024. Both postings and publishing were within the manner

prescribed by state law.

3) That it appears from the application materials submitted that the applicant is/will be entitled to

possession of the premises where the license is proposed to be exercised.

4) A criminal history background investigation was conducted and approved.

5) Selling/Serving alcohol beverages in the manner proposed in the application is not in violation of the

zoning and land use code or regulations of the Town.

7) A public hearing on the application will be held January 17, 2024 at 7:00 pm.  At said hearing, you

shall have an opportunity to be heard regarding all matters related to the application, including all

matters set forth herein.

8) At the public hearing pursuant to C.R.S Section 44-3-307 as amended, the applicant has the burden

of proving that they are qualified to hold the license applied for and their character, record and

reputation are satisfactory

9) The building where you propose to exercise the privilege of selling liquor is not within 500 feet from

either public or parochial school

You are also advised to obtain and read a copy of the State of Colorado Liquor and Beer Codes and 

Regulations.  These can be found at Colorado.gov/enforcement/liquor  

Please feel free to contact me directly at 970-578-9600 if you have any questions that I can help to 

answer.  

128

Item #7.



129

Item #7.



130

Item #7.



131

Item #8.



132

Item #8.



Row Labels Count of Trip Date

Adult Day | Respite Care 92

Education 1

Employment 86

Grocery 43

Meal (Senior) 6

Medical 90

Personal 28

Pharmacy 4

Recreational 2

Senior Resources|Service|Connections 32

Therapy 43

(blank)

Grand Total 427

Distinct clients served
Row Labels Distinct Count of Trip Date

Johnstown 282

Grand Total 282

VIA TRANSIT - Trips by Purpose 10.1.23 - 12.31.23

133

Item #8.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 4/16

ECONOMY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BY KEN

AMUNDSON LUCAS HIGH  JANUARY 5, 2024 1:36:47 PM

Destination:

Johnstown
Residential listings

were up in 2023, but

sales volumes,

median prices tanked

Crocs expects $3.95B

in ‘23 sales, stock

price soars 

Danone o�loading

Boulder-born

Horizon Organic to

private-equity �rm

LATEST NEWS↻

BizWest Publications

Custom Publications

Request a BizWest Article Reprint

134

Item #8.

https://bizwest.com/category/industries/economy-economic-development/%7D
https://bizwest.com/author/kamundson/
https://bizwest.com/author/kamundson/
https://bizwest.com/author/lhigh/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/08/residential-listings-were-up-in-2023-but-sales-volumes-median-prices-tanked/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/08/crocs-expects-3-95b-in-23-sales-stock-price-soars/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/08/danone-offloading-boulder-born-horizon-organic-to-private-equity-firm/
http://bizwest.advertserve.com/servlet/click/zone?zid=3&cid=8&mid=779&pid=0&sid=25&uuid=fa70bcf6ac2d145b39b5475913d01f1c&ip=24.54.130.147&default=false&random=94890101&timestamp=20240108135230&test=false&resolution=1745x835&contextual=true&referrer=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F%23djPop&redirect=https%3A%2F%2Ffmsbank.com%2Fcontact-us%2F%3Futm_source%3Daffiliate%26utm_medium%3Dbanner%26utm_campaign%3DBizWest%2B970x250
http://bizwest.advertserve.com/servlet/click/zone?zid=3&cid=8&mid=779&pid=0&sid=25&uuid=fa70bcf6ac2d145b39b5475913d01f1c&ip=24.54.130.147&default=false&random=94890101&timestamp=20240108135230&test=false&resolution=1745x835&contextual=true&referrer=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F%23djPop&redirect=https%3A%2F%2Ffmsbank.com%2Fcontact-us%2F%3Futm_source%3Daffiliate%26utm_medium%3Dbanner%26utm_campaign%3DBizWest%2B970x250
https://bizwest.com/bizwest-publications/
https://bizwest.com/custom-publications/
https://bizwest.ac-page.com/reprints


1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 5/16

Submit your event

LongPath secures

conditional $189M

DOE loan

Laughing it up

10
JAN

Northern
Colorado
Economic
Forecast
2024,
Presented
by
BizWest

11
JAN

Regional
Business
After
Hours
with Blue
Arena

18
JAN

Boulder
Economic
Forecast

View

Calendar

The new Buc-ees fueling station will include 120

pumps under the awning but half the revenue

from the operation will come from food sales.

Ken Amundson / BizWest

CALENDAR

135

Item #8.

https://events.bizwest.com/events/community/add
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/08/longpath-secures-conditional-189m-doe-loan/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/07/laughing-it-up/
https://events.bizwest.com/event/northern-colorado-economic-forecast-2024-presented-by-bizwest/
https://events.bizwest.com/event/regional-business-after-hours-with-blue-arena/
https://events.bizwest.com/event/boulder-economic-forecast/
https://events.bizwest.com/events/
https://events.bizwest.com/events/
https://bizwest.com/app/
https://bizwest.com/app/


1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 6/16

Johnstown development activity re�ects community

that’s open for business.

JOHNSTOWN — An economic measure to help gauge construction activity in a

community such as Johnstown might be the number of yellow-line John Deere or

Caterpillar earth movers at work on any given day.

While it may not be true, it seems like a typical traveler in the community is never out o

sight of such construction equipment, as development after development works to tur

vacant land into houses and commercial buildings.

Take, for example, the Colorado Highway 60 corridor. On the west side of the

interchange, a massive Buc-ee’s convenience store and fueling station is taking shape.

On the east side, no more than a half-mile from Buc-ee’s, is the heart of the Ledge Roc

development that will include Missouri-based Woods Supermarket’s �rst venture into

Colorado, a Murdoch’s Ranch and Home Supply store, and other retail. 

The development map for the community marks development after development, from

Encore north of U.S. Highway 34 down through the 2534 development, Iron Horse, The

Ridge, Revere, Welty Ridge, Ledge Rock and more — about eight miles in all, much of it

adjacent or near to Interstate 25, aka Colorado’s Main Street. Numerous residential

developments also are underway, some of which will contain “neighborhood

commercial,” said Sarah Crosthwaite, economic development director for the town. 

The developers responsible for these projects come from near and far — Colorado-

based McWhinney Real Estate Services Inc. has one, but others hail from California,

Texas, Kansas and Arizona. 

“The amount of outside capital investment into the community is amazing,” Crosthwait

said. “It shows that Johnstown has a good reputation for working with developers.”

Indeed, the relative ease that developers face in building projects in Johnstown has

been a factor Diane Seele who served as city clerk for Johnstown from 1990 until she
136

Item #8.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 7/16

been a factor. Diane Seele, who served as city clerk for Johnstown from 1990 until she

retired in 2022, noted that the community’s growth began incrementally and picked up

speed as time went on. First, it was a development near downtown, but things

accelerated when the community annexed land at the southeast corner of I-25 and

Highway 34, called 2534, where the Scheels All Sports store operates from a 250,000-

square-foot retail space in the Johnstown Plaza. 

Seele described how the community of 1,500 people when she arrived there in 1987

grew to its size of 18,636. 

“We had a grocery store, Hays Market, forever. It wanted to expand, so the town

annexed Johnstown Center at the edge of downtown,” she said. In the mid-’90s, some

commercial expansion began but “then we kind of sat dormant for a bit.”

Department-head meetings at city hall, she said, consisted of about �ve people. A

planner who was working in the community saw the opportunity and persuaded the

town to annex to the north to capitalize on the growth happening nearby in Loveland’s

Centerra. 

“We had a proactive board at that time, but we didn’t have a lot of money. We could

o�er time — we could get properties through the process quickly,” she said.

That thread — relative ease for developers — has run through all the developments,

and is remarked upon by those seeking to do business with the town.

Josh Smith, director of operations for Buc-ee’s, the Texas-based convenience store

operator, said the “city has been wonderful to work with, and the county, too.

“Life’s too short to do business with a community that doesn’t want you,” Smith said,

quoting the company’s founder, Arch “Beaver” Alpin. 

Buc-ee’s to open early 2024

While access to the Buc-ee’s site just west of the I-25/Colorado 60 interchange is still

restricted, there’s no shortage of workers or equipment getting things ready for a mid-

March opening. On a Wednesday before Christmas, workers were pouring concrete,

137

Item #8.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 8/16

p g y , p g ,

laying asphalt, completing the weather cover over the apron that will contain 120 gas

pumps, and completing the Lone Star markings above entrances. 

Buc-ee’s is, after all, based in Texas, where things are larger than life. The Johnstown

store will be among the company’s largest at 74,000 square feet. It has another of that

size in Sevierville, Tennessee. 

“It’s a family-oriented travel center,” Smith said. “It’s not conducive to 18-wheeler tra�c

he said. Truck tra�c will continue to be served at Johnson’s Corner to the north or

Love’s Travel Stop to the south at the Berthoud interchange.

The Johnstown store will be the company’s 49th, with four more stores planned in 202

Smith said. None of those four will be in Colorado, although the company is looking fo

other Centennial State opportunities.

The store does not have a sit-down restaurant but does sell a lot of food. “About 50% o

our business is in food service,” he said. The store caters to travelers who will stop for

fuel, buy food or other convenience items and head back out on the road.

The company has begun to advertise a mass-hiring event that will occur Jan. 23-27 at

the Embassy Suites Hotel and Conference Center in Loveland. On those dates, people

who have applied and have been screened over the telephone will be interviewed in

person and hired. 

Pay for positions at Buc-ee’s will be $18 to $33 per hour for 40-hour-per-week jobs,

Smith said. 

“We’ll hire 250-300 employees, about 90% full time,” he said. He expects the remaining

part-time positions will go to students, weekend workers and others.

Jobs will include cashiers, warehousing — “it’s like big box retail, stocking shelves,” he

said — food service workers such as people slicing and selling barbecued brisket, and

retail associates selling clothing or hunting gear.

“It’s all on track,” Smith said.

138

Item #8.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 9/16

Commercial/residential mixed uses

Many of the developments underway in Johnstown combine both commercial and

residential, Crosthwaite said. Encore on 34 is an example.

Arizona-based Caliber Services LLC is the developer behind this 453-acre site north of

U.S. Highway 34 and east of Centerra. The company plans 900 single-family homes, 56

apartments and 880,000 square feet of commercial space. 

“Final layout will be determined by the market,” Crosthwaite said. Commercial space w

be along Highway 34, and the most northern part of the development will include a

private high school, she said.

The development could include light industrial or employment-related businesses. The

developer hopes to get agreements �nalized in 2024 and may break ground as soon a

summer, she said.

Across the road from Encore, adjacent to the 2534 retail development, is McWhinney’s

Iron Horse, an industrial park that unlike many in the region includes outside yard spa

for those companies that have storage needs that don’t require cover. 

“There are some great users there, great employers,” Crosthwaite said. A building

constructed on speculation is fully leased, she said. The company has about 80 acres

remaining to be developed in Iron Horse.

Also in that vicinity, just west of Iron Horse, is a United Properties Development LLC

project on 16.76 acres called Trade@2534. The �ex industrial site most recently picked

up a Kroger Co. ful�llment center, which the King Soopers grocer uses for home-delive

services.

Caliber, the Arizona company, is also developing another parcel, this one 159 acres to

start, called The Ridge. It’s located at I-25 and Weld County Road 18. At buildout, it will

include residential with a diversity of housing types, and it includes space slated for

commercial use along I-25. 

139

Item #8.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 10/16

“With them (Caliber) having two great projects, we’re excited about this moving forwar

General agreements need to be voted on by the council,” Crosthwaite said.

Caliber, which entered the Johnstown development scene only about a half-decade ag

has other ambitious plans for the town. 

“We have about 750 acres in six di�erent projects” in various stages of the planning,

permitting and development process, Caliber chief development o�cer Roy Bade said

“We have pretty much every project type — everything from schools to single-family

(homes), single-family (homes) for rent, multi-family, o�ce, industrial, medical, retail

and hospitality. We’re really touching almost every kind of real estate asset there is.”

Regarding Caliber’s long-term portfolio projections, Bade said, “In the big picture, once

these all have the vertical development, there will be more than $1 billion in new

development in Johnstown.”

The company’s residential communities could bring about 8,000 to 10,000 new

residents to the town.

Texas-based 4 Star Development & Brokerage plans a residential development called

Revere North; it does include commercial elements, but details of that await a

commercial partner for 4 Star, which specializes in residential only, Crosthwaite said.

Between 30 and 50 acres of Revere North will be set aside for commercial developmen

Welty Ridge, being developed by Platte Land and Water, includes the Buc-ee’s project.

The remainder of Welty Ridge is likely to see commercial, light industrial and some

residential.

Platte Land and Water also has another parcel of particular interest to Johnstown. It’s a

160-acre parcel, annexed into the town, that the city is calling its future North

Downtown. It’s north on Weld County Road 17.

“Tons of projects are coming for downtown,” Crosthwaite said. That’s noted in the

town’s strategic plan, which was just updated and included for town board review last

month.

140

Item #8.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 11/16

month.

Among the strategies noted in the plan are “driving development to expand the

downtown corridor.” In the short-term — up to three years according to the plan — th

town wants to create a downtown master plan, complete a �nancial improvement stud

for the downtown to support the vision for its expansion, and guide expansion in a

creative way. 

“The biggest thing is that we want to assure that it (the expansion) adds amenities and

an extension of the historic corridor,” Crosthwaite said. It needs to be “pedestrian-

friendly” and have elements that “activate it both day and night,” she said.

While not downtown, the Ledge Rock Center between downtown and Interstate 25

o�ers the community another retail opportunity. It includes six buildings in its �rst

phase, including Woods Supermarket, Murdoch’s Ranch and Home Supply, and a retai

center that will include business condos or rental units. A Sports Clips “coming soon”

sign hangs in the window of one of them.

Kansas-based Carson Development Inc. is producing Ledge Rock, which will include

750,000 square feet of commercial space.

Woods Supermarket, a Missouri-based grocer making its foray into the state at

Johnstown, will open in 2024. The store will be 85,000 square feet. Woods has been

around Missouri for decades; the Johnstown store will be its 11th and its �rst outside o

its home state. About 150 workers will be hired to sta� the store, which as of late

December was largely shelled in but did not have exterior elevations completed. 

Crosthwaite said the town put more than $8 million into improvements at the Highway

60 gateway. 

Other residential developments that include some commercial elements include the

Vista Commons neighborhood north of Ledge Rock, Massey Farms and Settlers

Crossing, she said.

“We’re excited about Northern Colorado,” Caliber’s Bade said. “We �nd it to be a very

strong market for a lot of reasons, most of them relate to quality of life.”

141

Item #8.



1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 12/16

strong market for a lot of reasons, most of them relate to quality of life.

By and large, developers have found Johnstown residents, its government o�cials and

sta�ers, and its economic development community to be open for business. 

“In Johnstown, they’re incredibly open to getting together and meeting with them.

They’ve had a fair amount of turnover (in its planning and development o�ce) and I

think that’s one of the things that’s di�cult … but it’s part of being one the fastest

growing communities in the state,” Bade said. “You’re going to have some growing

pains, but overall, their receptiveness to development and to developers exceeds wha

we’ve seen in other regions.”

142

Item #8.

https://s39845.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/bucees1-scaled.jpeg.webp
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/


1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 13/16

a d k v s

Ken Amundson

Ken Amundson is

managing editor of

BizWest. He has

lived in Loveland

and reported on

issues in the region

since 1987. Prior to

Colorado, he

reported and edited

for news

organizations in

Minnesota and

Iowa. He's a parent

of two and

grandparent of

four, all of whom

make their homes

on the Front Range.

A news junkie at

heart, he also

enjoys competitive

sports, especially

the Rapids.

✉

143

Item #8.

https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F&t=Destination%3A+Johnstown+%26lt%3Bi+class%3D%5C%26%23039%3Bfa-light+fa-key+fogg-paywall%5C%26%23039%3B%26gt%3B%26lt%3B%2Fi%26gt%3B
https://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&ro=true&trk=EasySocialShareButtons&title=Destination%3A+Johnstown+%26lt%3Bi+class%3D%5C%26%23039%3Bfa-light+fa-key+fogg-paywall%5C%26%23039%3B%26gt%3B%26lt%3B%2Fi%26gt%3B&url=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F
mailto:?subject=Destination%3A%20Johnstown%20%26lt%3Bi%20class%3D%27fa-light%20fa-key%20fogg-paywall%27%26gt%3B%26lt%3B%2Fi%26gt%3B&body=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F
https://bizwest.com/author/kamundson/
mailto:kamundson@bizwestmedia.com


1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 14/16

Categories: Economy & Economic Development Johnstown Buc-

ee's Ltd. Home Supply Murdoch's Ranch Woods Supermarket

Lucas High

A Maryland native,

Lucas has worked

at news agencies

from Wyoming to

South Carolina

before putting roots

down in Colorado.✉

Sign up for BizWest Daily Alerts
Email

Type your email SUBMIT

144

Item #8.

https://bizwest.com/category/industries/economy-economic-development/%7D
https://bizwest.com/category/region/johnstown-region/%7D
https://bizwest.com/tag/buc-ees-ltd/
https://bizwest.com/tag/buc-ees-ltd/
https://bizwest.com/tag/home-supply/
https://bizwest.com/tag/murdochs-ranch/
https://bizwest.com/tag/woods-supermarket/
https://bizwest.com/author/lhigh/
mailto:lhigh@bizwest.com


1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 15/16

Related Content

Buc-ee’s to hold mass-

hiring event for

Johnstown location

 December 11, 2023

Woods market to locate

large grocery in

Johnstown

 March 2, 2023

Buc-ee’s breaks ground

in Johnstown

 June 7, 2022

Je� Nuttall -

Publisher

jnuttall@bizwest.com

© BizWest Media

The contents of this website are copyright

BizWest Media, LLC. All rights reserved.

Use of any of this information or media on

this site is strictly prohibited without

express written consent.

About us

Advertise

BizWest Publications

Custom Publications

Contact us

Privacy Policy

RSS

Submit News

145

Item #8.

https://bizwest.com/2023/12/11/buc-ees-to-hold-mass-hiring-event-for-johnstown-location/
https://bizwest.com/2023/03/02/woods-market-to-locate-large-grocery-in-johnstown/
https://bizwest.com/2022/06/07/buc-ees-breaks-ground-in-johnstown/
mailto:jnuttall@bizwest.com
https://bizwest.com/about-us/
https://bizwest.com/advertise/
https://bizwest.com/bizwest-publications/
https://bizwest.com/custom-publications/
https://bizwest.com/contact-us/
https://bizwest.com/privacy-policy/
https://bizwest.com/feed/
https://bizwest.com/submit-news/
http://bizwest.advertserve.com/servlet/click/zone?zid=3&cid=462&mid=842&pid=0&sid=25&uuid=fa70bcf6ac2d145b39b5475913d01f1c&ip=24.54.130.147&default=false&random=72839852&timestamp=20240108135230&test=false&resolution=1745x835&contextual=true&referrer=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F%23djPop&redirect=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.prpa.org%2F
http://bizwest.advertserve.com/servlet/click/zone?zid=3&cid=462&mid=842&pid=0&sid=25&uuid=fa70bcf6ac2d145b39b5475913d01f1c&ip=24.54.130.147&default=false&random=72839852&timestamp=20240108135230&test=false&resolution=1745x835&contextual=true&referrer=https%3A%2F%2Fbizwest.com%2F2024%2F01%2F05%2Fdestination-johnstown%2F%23djPop&redirect=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.prpa.org%2F


1/8/24, 1:52 PM Destination: Johnstown – BizWest

https://bizwest.com/2024/01/05/destination-johnstown/# 16/16

970-227-7103

For

subscription

questions,

contact Bruce

Dennis -

Audience

Development

Director

bdennis@bizwest.com

970-232-3143

Subscribe

Terms of Use

146

Item #8.

tel:970-227-7103
mailto:bdennis@bizwest.com
tel:970-232-3143
https://bizwest.com/login/?loginAction=subscribe
https://bizwest.com/terms-of-use/

	Top
	Item #1.	January 4, 2024 Meeting Minutes
	1-4-2024

	Item #2.	Grant Application for Peace Officer Behavioral Health Support and Community Partnership Grant Program
	Council TAC Grant Funding Resolution 23-06
	Res Peace Officers Grant Resolution 23-06
	Destination_ Johnstown  BizWest (003)

	Item #3.	Storage Unit Use Agreement
	TAC 011724
	Storage Unit Use Agreement_Johnstown and Graycliff SIGNED

	Item #4.	An Update to the Country Acres Drainage Mitigation Study
	TAC Country Acres Drainage Study Update MM
	Country Acres Storm Drainage Study Update

	Item #5.	An Update to the Colorado Blvd & Roosevelt Pkwy Intersection Alternatives Analysis
	TAC Colorado  Roosevelt Intersection Analysis Update
	Colorado-Roosevelt Intersection Analysis Presentation

	Item #6.	FRFR Impact Fees
	TAC - FRFR Impact Fees
	FRFR Impact Fee Final Study May 2023

	Item #7.	New Beer & Wine Liquor License Application for Buc-ee’s Johnstown LLC
	1 TAC - B&WLiquor License - Buc-ee's MM
	1 Application Beer & Wine Buc-ee's
	2 Needs and Desire Petition
	3 Report from Police Department Re Buc-ee's
	4 Order Approving Liquor License Buc-ee's 01 17 24
	5 Vicinity Map
	6 Preliminary Findings
	7 Buc-ees Affidavit of Posting 12-15-2023

	Item #8.	Informational Items
	DLG 70 Weld Signed
	DLG Larimer Signed
	Johnstown 3 QTR Trips 2023
	Destination_ Johnstown  BizWest (003)

	Bottom

